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 2015 

 

2014 

 

2015/2014 

Increase / 

(decrease) 

 €000 €000 % 

Gross Premiums 76 418 77 763 (1,7) 

    

Profit for the year before taxation 3 301 3 473 (5,0) 

    

Profit for the year after taxation 2 053 2 499 (17,8) 

    

Insurance Contracts Liabilities 274 623 283 740 (3,2) 

    

Total Assets 365 060 372 779 (2,1) 

    

Total Equity 31 932 29 835 7,0 
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The Directors submit to the shareholders their report together with the audited consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended 31 December 2015. 
 

ACTIVITIES 
Universal Life Insurance Public Company Limited (the “Company”) is the parent company of the Universal 

Group of Companies (the “Group”). The principal activities of the Group during the year were life 

insurance, accident and health insurance and administration of superannuation and managed pension 
funds in Cyprus. The Group companies are set out in note 33. 

 
The Company operates through a network of eight branches for its insurance operations in Cyprus. 

 
FINANCIAL RESULTS 

In 2015 the Group recorded profits after taxation amounting to €2 053 000 compared to profits of  
€2 499 000 in 2014.  

 

The financial highlights for 2015 and 2014 are as follows: 
 

 

DIVIDENDS 

The Board of Directors does not propose the payment of a final dividend for 2015. 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
Like all other financial organisations, the Group is exposed to risks, the most significant of which are those 

arising from obligations to policyholders and risks of financial instruments held. These risks are monitored 
on a systematic basis and all the necessary measures are taken to prevent undue risk concentrations. 

Further information on the group’s insurance and financial risks, are presented in note 30 of the 

consolidated financial statements.  
 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS  
The most significant objectives of the Group for the next three years are the following: 

 
 Increase the new business market share of the life operations in Cyprus. 

 Strengthen the leading position in the private medical insurance market in Cyprus. 

 Reinforce the distribution network for insurance operations. 

 Improve the corporate image of the Group’s companies. 

 Improve the quality of provided services. 

 Improve information technology systems. 

 Maximise the investment returns. 

 Preserve a favourable working environment for the employees.  

 
The planning and implementation for the achievement of the above objectives has already commenced. 
  

 
 

 
2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Group gross premiums 76 418 77 763 

Profit for the year before taxation 3 301 3 473 

Profit for the year after taxation 2 053 2 499 

Insurance contracts liabilities 274 623 283 740 

Total assets 365 060 372 779 

Total equity 31 932 29 835 
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GROUP OPERATING ENVIRONMENT  

The economic recovery started in the first quarter of 2015 and continued throughout the year at an 
accelerated pace. Therefore, the real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) according to the Statistical Service of 

Cyprus grew by 2.7% in the fourth quarter (on an adjusted basis). For the full year, real GDP grew by 
1.6% compared to decrease of 2.5% in the previous year. Growth was mainly influenced by tourism, 

business services and financial and insurance services from the supply side. On the expenditure side, 

growth was mainly due to investments in buildings, metals and machinery and transport equipment. 
Growth has also been supported by the depreciation of the euro and the reduction of oil prices. 

  

The medium-term prospects remain positive according to the European Commission and the International 

Monetary Fund (IMF). Real GDP is expected to grow by about 2% annually during 2016-2017. Negative 

factors are associated with high levels of non-performing loans and the deterioration of the external 

environment which would endanger an open economy such as Cyprus. Conversely, positive factors in 

economic prospects are associated with a long period of low oil prices, improved conditions in Greece and 

improvement in the international investment climate. 

 

Cyprus has made significant progress in public finances during the program. According to the Statistical 

Service of Cyprus, the budget deficit was almost eliminated, approaching zero in 2014 from 5.7% of GDP 

in 2011. The consolidation of public finances involves significant spending cuts including salaries and 

pensions. Interest payments have also been reduced and limits were set on the ministries' spending. 

Regarding revenues, the better than expected performance led to higher direct and indirect tax receipts 

and social security contributions. The budget is expected to enter into a surplus in 2016-2017, albeit 

marginally, as projected by the European Committee. The general government debt increased to 108.2% 

of GDP in 2014 according to Eurostat and increased slightly in 2015 according to the budget. Public debt is 

expected to decrease to 94.6% of GDP by 2017 according to the European Committee. 

  

The IMF completed the ninth evaluation of the economic adjustment program in January 2016. The eighth 
European Committee evaluation was not completed because a final prerequisite has not been fulfilled. 

 
The Macroeconomic Adjustment Programme of the European Stability Mechanism (ESM) will expire on 

March 31, 2016 and the government decided to terminate it without further arrangements. The Eurogroup 

at its meeting on March 7, 2016 praised the Cypriot authorities for the overall successful implementation 
of the program and stressed the need for further reforms to enhance the resilience of the Cyprus 

economy. After this development, the IMF program officially ending on May 14, 2016, has been canceled 
by the Republic of Cyprus. 

 
Cyprus will remain under post-program surveillance, until the repayment of at least 75% of the funding 

received. Under the supervision of the program, the European Committee in cooperation with the 
European Central Bank (ECB) will conduct regular audits to analyze the fiscal and financial developments 

and will prepare biannual evaluation report, which may include recommendations for further action when 

necessary. 
 

Acknowledging the progress made in the public sector and the economic recovery, as well as the 
establishment of the overall reform of distress sales and insolvency framework in April 2015, the 

international credit rating agencies upgraded the credit rating of the Republic of Cyprus, by opening the 
way for finance from international capital markets. In May 2015 and October 2015, the Government of 

Cyprus proceeded with the issuance of debt amounting to € 1 billion with maturity in 2022 with a yield of 

4.00% per annum and debt amounting to € 1 billion with maturity in 2025 with a 4.25% yield per annum. 
 

The legislations constituting the insolvency framework came into force in May 2015 and as a result came 
into force the law on divestments that had been voted by the Cyprus Parliament in September 2014. 
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SHARE CAPITAL 

During the year the issued share capital of the Company increased by 265 452 fully paid ordinary shares 
of € 1,00 each. These shares were the result of the dividend distribution from earnings of 2013 amounting 

to € 0.11 per share. The issue price of the new shares was € 5.51 each. 
 

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY  

The beneficial, direct and indirect, interests of the Directors in the share capital of the Company are 
shown in note 36 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
SHAREHOLDERS WHO HOLD MORE THAN 5% OF THE SHARE CAPITAL 

Shareholders that hold more than 5% of the share capital of the Company are shown in note 37 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE 

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code as it was issued by the Cyprus Stock 

Exchange. The Directors’ Report on Corporate Governance is presented in pages 15-25 of the Greek 
Annual Report and includes information required by Article 5 of the Directive ΟΔ190-2007-04 of the 

Cyprus Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
During 2015 and up to the date of this Report, the Board of Directors is comprised of the following 

members: 
 

Photos Ia. Photiades, Ph.D (Chairman) 

Andreas Georghiou (Vice Chairman) 

Dr. Andreas C. Kritiotis  

George A. Georghiou 

Constantinos Dekatris 

Demosthenis Z. Severis 

Socrates Solomides 

Alexis Ph. Photiades 

Pavlos Ph. Photiades 

Stavros Christodoulides 
 

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Socrates Solomides and Mr Andreas 
Georghiou retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The vacancies so created 

will be filled by election.  

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The independent auditors of the Company, Ernst & Young Cyprus Ltd have expressed their willingness to 

continue in office. A resolution for their appointment and for their remuneration will be proposed at the 
Annual General Meeting. 

 
 

Photos Ia. Photiades, Ph.D 
Chairman 
30 May 2016 
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 Note 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 

Transfer from Consolidated Income Statement of:    

  Life insurance and annuity business  4 300 900 

  Accident and health insurance business  (451) 2 190 

  3 849 3 090 

Income from the administration of superannuation and pension funds  44 34 

Net (loss) / profit from other operations 5 (548) 385 

Other non-attributable net expenses 4 (44) (36) 

Profit for the year before taxation   3 301  3 473 

Taxation 6 (1 248) (974) 

Profit for the year after taxation  2 053 2 499 

    

    

Other comprehensive income not reclassified in the 
consolidated income statement in subsequent periods     

Revaluation of property   28 (284) 

Deferred taxation on revaluation of property   40 (39) 

Net comprehensive income not reclassified in the  
consolidated income statement in subsequent periods   68 (323) 

Other comprehensive income for the year after taxation   68 (323) 

    

Total comprehensive income for the year after taxation  2 121 2 176 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 12 to 58 form part of the financial statements 
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The notes on pages 12 to 58 form part of the financial statements 

 Note 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 

Income 

 
   

Gross premiums 

 

 

 44 980 46 289 

Reinsurance premiums  (3 122) (3 371) 

Net premiums  41 858 42 918 

Commission from reinsurers  865 772 

Investment and other income  3 1 150 1 918 

Increase in fair value and profit on sale of investments at  
fair value through profit or loss   7 308 8 268 

  51 181 53 876 

Outgo    

Gross payments to policyholders  (46 236) (48 244) 

Reinsurers’ share of payments to policyholders  1 799 1 105 

Operating expenses  4 (6 659) (6 624) 

Commission to insurance agents  (3 347) (3 630) 

Interest expense  (321) (425) 

Foreign exchange differences  (1) 4 

  (54 765) (57 814) 

Change in liabilities and unappropriated surplus    

Gross change in insurance contracts liabilities  24 8 899 4 187 

Reinsurers’ share of change in insurance contracts liabilities  24 (987) 42 

Change in unappropriated surplus  23 (28) 609 

 

 

 

 7 884 4 838 

Excess of  income over outgo for the year transferred to 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income  4 300 900 
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The notes on pages 12 to 58 form part of the financial statements 

 Note 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 

Income 

 
   

Gross premiums 

 

 

 31 438 31 474 

Reinsurance premiums  (22 808) (22 675) 

Net premiums  8 630 8 799 

Commission from reinsurers    4 734 3 801 

Investment income   3 10 25 

  13 374 12 625 

Outgo    

Gross payments to policyholders  (24 586) (23 208) 

Reinsurers’ share of payments to policyholders  17 626 16 540 

Operating expenses  4 (3 184) (2 839) 

Commission to insurance agents  (3 565) (3 129) 

Interest expense  (224) (252) 

  (13 933) (12 888) 

Gross change in insurance contracts liabilities  24 218 (92) 

Reinsurers’ share of change in insurance contracts liabilities  24 (110) 2 545 

  108 2 453 
Excess of (outgo over income) / income over outgo for the 
year transferred to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income  (451) 2 190 
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Ph. Ia. Photiades Ph.D, Chairman 

Dr A. C. Kritiotis, Chief Executive Officer 

X. Vrachas, Chief Financial Officer 

 

The notes on pages 12 to 58 form part of the financial statements 

  Note  2015 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

  €000 €000 

Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents  9  28 549 36 338 

Debtors and prepayments      10  3 914 4 091 

Investment properties   11  109 852 110 697 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     12  124 337 118 710 

Loans and receivables     13  5 939 6 792 

Investments of superannuation and managed 
pension funds  14 

 

15 391 14 452 

Reinsurers’ share in insurance contracts liabilities  24  10 123 11 220 

Premiums receivable and other insurance receivables  16  4 334 7 595 

Taxation receivable       6  210 159 

Advances  17  - 24 

Inventory   18  41 556 41 782 

Property and equipment  19  18 970 19 029 

Intangible assets  20  1 885 1 890 

Total assets   365 060 372 779 

     

Liabilities     

Bank overdraft  9  3 843 3 515 

Bank loan  15  4 880 7 395 

Creditors and accruals  21  2 431 2 581 

Insurance liabilities  22  22 343 22 200 

Taxation payable  6  242 233 

Deferred taxation  6  7 883 7 353 

Unappropriated surplus of life insurance business  23  698 670 

Insurance contracts liabilities  24  274 623 283 740 

Liabilities of superannuation and managed pension funds  14  16 185 15 257 

Total liabilities   333 128 342 944 

     

Equity      

Share capital  26  13 789 13 523 

Share premium    2 360 1 163 

Revaluation reserves  27  8 676 8 608 

Retained profits   27  7 107 6 541 

Total equity   31 932 29 835 

Total equity and liabilities  

 

365 060 372 779 
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The notes on pages 12 to 58 form part of the financial statements 

 
Share 

Capital 

(Note 26) 

Share 

Premium 

Revaluation 

Reserve 

(Note 27) 

Retained 

profits 

 (Note 27) Total 

 
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 

At 1 January 2015 13 523 1 163 8 608 6 541 29 835 

Profit for the year  - - - 2 053 2 053 

Other comprehensive income for 
the year after taxation - - 68 - 68 

Total comprehensive income for  
the year  - - 68 

 

2 053 2 121 
 
Issue of shares (note 26) 
 

266 1 197 - - 1 463 
 
Dividends (note 8) 
 

- -  (1 487) (1 487) 

At 31 December 2015 13 789 2 360 8 676 7 107 31 932 

At 1 January 2014 13 523 1 163 8 931 4 042 27 659 

Profit for the year - - - 2 499 2 499 

Other comprehensive income for 
the year after taxation - - (323) - (323) 

Total comprehensive income for  
the year  -              - (323) 

 

2 499 

 

2 176 

At 31 December 2014 13 523 1 163 8 608 6 541 29 835 
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The notes on pages 12 to 58 form part of the financial statements 

 

Note 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 

Net cash flow for operating activities  29 (8 785) (12 002) 

    

Cash flow from investing activities    

Net proceeds / (payments) from / (for) investment property  228 (289) 

Net payments for purchase of inventory  (13) (286) 

Net payments for purchase of multi asset funds  (9 743) (19 689) 

Net proceeds from sale and maturity of debt securities   1 940 24 388 

Net proceeds from purchase and sale of equity shares  9 583 12 021 

Net proceeds from loans to policyholders  774 1 163 

Increase / (decrease) in bank deposits  9 969 (5 111) 
Net (payments) / proceeds from purchase and sale of property and 
equipment   (225) 177 

Purchase of intangible assets  20 (347) (29) 

Investment income received  1 173 1 952 

Net cash flow from investing activities   13 339 14 297 

    

Cash flow for financing activities    

Repayment of bank loan  (2 515) (2 513) 

Bank loan interest paid  (263) (384) (602) 

Net cash flow for financing activities  (2 778) (2 897) 

    

Net  increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1 776 (602) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  9 (1 872) (1 270) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  9 (96) (1 872) 
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The accounting policies followed in respect of items that are considered material or important for the 

results of the year and the financial position of the Group are stated below: 
 

1.  Basis of preparation 
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

 Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU). In addition, the 

 consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
 the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113.  

 
 The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except 

 for properties held for own use, investment properties, derivative financial instruments and 
 financial assets at fair value through profit, that are being measured in fair value.  

 
 The Group presents its statement of financial position in order of liquidity. The analysis of the 

 expected recovery or settlement of any assets and liabilities in less than and more than twelve 

 months from the statement of financial position date is presented in note 31. 
 

2.  Functional and presentation currency 
 The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro (€) which is the operating and 

 reporting currency of the financial statements of the Group. All amounts are rounded to the 
 nearest thousand except where otherwise indicated. 

 
3.       New and amended standards and interpretations 

  The Group applied on 1 January 2016, for the first time the amendments resulting from the 

annual improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013. These amendments do not have an impact in the 
Group’s financial statements. 

 
3.1   Standards and Interpretations that are issued but not yet effective 
 
3.1.1   Standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and adopted by the EU  

Up to the date of approval of the financial statements, certain new Standards, Interpretations 

and Amendments  to  existing  standards  have  been  published  that  are  not  yet  effective  
for  the current  reporting period and which the Group has not early adopted, as follows: 

 
IAS 16 Property, Plant & Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible assets (Amendment): Clarification of 
acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation 

 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. This 

amendment clarifies the principle in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 
Intangible Assets that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from 

operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that are 

consumed through use of the asset. As a result, the ratio of revenue generated to total revenue 
expected to be generated cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may 

only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The Group does not 
expect any impact on its results and financial position from the adoption of this amendment. 

 
IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans (Amended): Employee Contributions 

  The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2015. The 
amendment applies to contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit plans. 

The objective of the amendment is to simplify the accounting for contributions that are 

independent of the number of years of employee service, for example, employee contributions 
that are calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary.  The Group does not expect a 

material impact on its results and financial position from the adoption of this amendment. 
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 IFRS 11 Joint arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. IFRS 11 

addresses the accounting for interests in joint ventures and joint operations. The amendment 

adds new guidance on how to account for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation that 

constitutes a business in accordance with IFRS and specifies the appropriate accounting 

treatment for such acquisitions. The Management of the Group does not expect a material 

impact on its results and financial position from the adoption of this amendment. 

 

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements 
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. This 

amendment will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in 

subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements and will help 

some jurisdictions move to IFRS for separate financial statements, reducing compliance costs 

without reducing the information available to investors. The Management of the Group does not 

expect a material impact on its results and financial position from the adoption of this 

amendment. 

 

IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative (Amendment) 
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.  The 

amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements further encourage companies to 

apply professional judgment in determining what information to disclose and how to structure it 

in their financial statements. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2016. The narrow-focus amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly 

change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments relate to materiality, order of the notes, 

subtotals and disaggregation, accounting policies and presentation of items of other 

comprehensive income (OCI) arising from equity accounted investments. The Management of 

the Group is in the process of assessing the impact of these amendments to its results and 

financial position. 

 

The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle, which is a collection 

of amendments to IFRSs. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 February 2015, with earlier adoption permitted from 1 July 2014. The Group is in the 

process of assessing the impact of these amendments to its results and financial position. 

 

The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle which is a collection of 

amendments to IFRSs. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of these 

amendments on its results and financial position. These improvements are effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
 
 
3.1.2   Standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and adopted by the EU  

  
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  
 
Classification and measurement 
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early 
adoption permitted. The final version of IFRS 9 concentrates the stages of the project of the 

financial instruments and replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

and all the previous versions of IFRS 9. The Standard includes new requirements for 
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, impairment of financial assets 
and hedge accounting. 
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 Impairment 
The impairment requirements apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost and fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), lease receivables, certain loan 

commitments and financial guarantee contracts. At initial recognition, allowance (or provision in 
the case of commitments and guarantees) is required for expected credit losses (ECL) resulting 

from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (12 month ECL). In the event of 

a significant increase in credit risk, allowance (or provision) is required for ECL resulting from all 
possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument (lifetime ECL). 

 
The assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition is 

performed for each reporting period by considering the change in the risk of default occurring 
over the remaining life of the financial instrument, rather than by considering an increase in 

expected credit losses. 
 

Hedge accounting 
IFRS 9 includes an accounting policy choice to remain with IAS 39 hedge accounting. The 
standard does not explicitly address macro hedge accounting strategies, which are being 

considered in a separate project. To remove the risk of any conflict between existing macro 
hedge accounting practice and the new general hedge accounting requirements, the standard 

includes an accounting policy choice to remain with IAS 39 hedge accounting. 

 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting IFRS 9, which is expected to have a 
significant effect. However, the impact of adoption depends on the financial assets and liabilities 

of the Group at the date of adoption, and it is therefore not practical to quantify the effect at 
present. 

 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. IFRS 15 

establishes a five-step  model  that  will  apply  to  revenue  earned  from  a  contract  with  a  
customer  (with  limited  exceptions), regardless of the type of revenue transaction or the 

industry. The standard’s requirements will also apply to the recognition  and  measurement  of  
gains  and  losses  on  the  sale  of  some  non-financial  assets  that  are  not  an output of the 

entity’s ordinary activities (e.g. sales of property, plant and equipment or intangibles). Extensive 
disclosures  will  be  required,  including  disaggregation  of  total  revenue;  information  about  

performance obligations; changes in contract asset and liability account balances between 
periods and key judgements and estimates. The Group is currently assessing the impact of 

adopting IFRS 15. 

 
IFRS  10  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  and  IAS  28  Investments  in  Associates  and  
Joint Ventures - Amendment: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture  
The amendments will be effective from annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2016. 

The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 

and those in IAS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and 
its associate or joint venture.  The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or 

loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or 
not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves  assets  that  do  not  

constitute  a  business,  even  if  these  assets  are  housed  in  a  subsidiary.  The Management 
of the Group does not expect a material impact on its financial statements from the adoption of 

this amendment. 

 

 
 
 



Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

 
 

15 
 

 

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation 
Exception 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The 

amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception 

under IFRS 10. The amendments clarify that the exemption from presenting consolidated 

financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, when 

the investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value. Furthermore, the 

amendments clarify that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an investment 

entity itself and that provides support services to the investment entity is consolidated. All other 

subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. Finally the amendments to IAS 

28 allow the investor, when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement 

applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.  The 

Management of the Group does not expect a material impact on its financial statements from 

the adoption of these amendments.  

 

IFRS 16 Leases 
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 sets 

out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for 

both parties to a contract, i.e. the customer (lessee) and the supplier (lessor). The new 

standard requires lessees to recognise most leases on their financial statements. Lessees will 

have a single accounting model for all leases, with certain exemptions. Lessor accounting is 

substantially unchanged. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of this standard 

on its results and financial position. 

 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes. Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised 
Losses 
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.The 

amendment addresses how to account for deferred tax assets related to debt instruments 

measured at fair value which give rise to a deductible temporary difference when the holder 

expects to recover the carrying amount of the asset by holding it to maturity and collecting all 

the contractual cash flows. IAS 12 provides requirements on the recognition and measurement 

of current or deferred tax liabilities or assets. The amendment clarifies the requirements on 

recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses, to address diversity in practice.  

 

Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative 
These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The 

IASB added an initiative on disclosure to its work programme in 2013 to complement the work 

being done in the Conceptual Framework project. The initiative is, inter alia, made up of a 

number of smaller projects that aim at exploring opportunities to see how presentation and 

disclosure principles and requirements in existing standards can be improved short-term. 

Among them was a narrow scope project on IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows to improve 

information provided to users of financial statements about an entity’s financing activities and 

liquidity. 

 

The objective of the amendments is to enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes 

in liabilities arising from financing activities. The amendments will require entities to provide 

disclosures that enable investors to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 

activities, including changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. The amendments to 

IAS 7 respond to investors’ requests for information that helps them better understand changes 

in an entity’s debt, which is important to their analysis of financial statements.  
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4.   Classification of insurance products 

 An insurance contract is a contract under which one party (the insurer) accepts significant 
 insurance risk from the other party (the insured), by agreeing to compensate the insured if a 

 specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the insured.  
 

 A contract that was classified as an insurance contract remains so until the fulfillment or 

 expiration of all rights and obligations deriving from the contract, even if the insurance risk has 
 been significantly reduced during the contract period. 

 
5. Basis of consolidation 

 The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Universal Life Insurance Public 
 Company Ltd (the “Company”) and all its subsidiary companies that together with the company 

 are referred to as the “Group”. Transactions and balances arising between subsidiaries are 
 eliminated on consolidation. The subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 

 acquired control and cease to be consolidated when control is transferred outside the Group. 

 Control is achieved when the Group has the right to direct the economic and business policies of 
 an entity, resulting in the receipt of economic benefits from its activities. 

 
 The financial statements of the subsidiary companies of the Group are prepared for the same 

 financial reporting period as the holding company, using the same accounting policies. 
 

6. Foreign currency translation 
 All amounts in the consolidated financial consolidated statements are expressed in Euro (€), 

 which is the operating and reporting currency of the company and its subsidiaries in Cyprus. 

 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Euro at the rates ruling on the date of 
 transaction. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated to Euro at 

 the rates of exchange ruling at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statement Position. Non 
 cash assets and liabilities measured at fair value in foreign currency are translated using the 

 exchange rate of the date that the fair value was determined. 
 

 Exchange differences arising from current transactions in relation to insurance business, the 

 translation of the investments relating to unit-linked investment plans and of other assets and 
 liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are dealt with in the income statement of the 

 respective business. 
 

7. Insurance business 
 Life and annuity business 

 The income statement of life and annuity business includes life insurance and their 
 supplementary benefits and annuities. Premiums are accounted for when they become due and 

 the grace period has not elapsed according to the terms of the respective insurance contracts. 

 
 Commissions to insurance intermediaries are recognised in the income statement on an accrual 

 basis, in accordance with the terms of the agreements with intermediaries. 
 

 A provision is made for risks incurred and for matured policies. The insurance liabilities and 
 consequently the results of the business are determined following the actuarial valuation of 

 insurance liabilities for in-force policies, including benefits to participating policies. The amount 
 of the surplus which is allocated to the shareholders of the Company and to the holders of 

 participating insurance policies or which is retained for distribution in future years is determined 

 by the Board of Directors on the advice of actuary. 
 

 Unallocated surplus 
The unallocated surplus represents the excess of assets over liabilities of policyholders with 

Discretionary Participating Features (DPF), not yet divided between them and their 
shareholders. The Group has elected to classify the entire unallocated surplus as a liability 
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without sharing equity. This reflects the fact that the participation of shareholders in the 

distribution of profits occurs only during distribution. The  Group has the discretion to decide the 
amount and time of distribution of this surplus.  

 
 Accident and health insurance business  
 Premiums are accounted for when they become due according to the terms of the insurance 

 contracts. 
 

 A provision is made for the estimated amount of claims for policies in force in the current year. 
 The provision is calculated on a case by case basis and is based on the estimated cost including 

 settlement expenses. The provision includes claims in relation to risks incurred but not reported 
 (I.B.N.R) up to the reporting date. Past experience and actual data regarding the number and 

 amount of claims reported after the reporting date are used to calculate this provision. 
 

 Commissions to insurance intermediaries are recognized in the income statement on an accrual 

 basis, in accordance with the terms of the agreements with intermediaries. 
 

 The unearned premiums reserve represents the amount of premiums that relates to the risk 
 period after the reporting date. Provision is made separately for each insurance policy taking 

 into account the frequency of payment. 
 

 The deferred acquisition costs (costs that relate to policies contracted in the current financial 
 year but which relate also to future years) are calculated on a comparable basis to that used for 

 unearned premiums. The deferred acquisition costs are netted off with the unearned premiums 

 reserve. 
 

The reserve for unexpired risks is calculated based on claims and management expenses 
expected to be incurred after the end of the financial year and is in relation to policies 

contracted before this date, to the point that their expected amount exceeds the unearned and 
outstanding premiums reserve. 

 

Management of retirement and pension funds 
The Group manages retirement funds and group pension plans on behalf of clients. The relevant 

fees are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
  

8. Investment income  
 Investment income includes interest income, dividends and rents from investment property and 

 is shown after the deduction of investment management fees. 
 

 Interest income is accounted for on an accruals basis, taking into consideration the real return 

 on the asset. 
 

 Dividends receivable are accounted for when the Group is entitled to receive such dividends. 
 

 Rental income from investment properties is accounted for on a systematic basis over the rental 
 period. 

 
9. Provision of retirement benefits 

 The Group has a number of defined contributions plans for providing retirement benefits to 

 permanent employees and insurance agents. 
 

 Contributions are made in separate defined contribution schemes calculated as fixed 
 percentages of the emoluments of staff and of the commissions of insurance agents. The 

 relevant cost is accounted for in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
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10. Interest Payable 

 The interest payable is recognised as expense in the year in which it is incurred. 
 

11. Leases 
 Leases where the lessor substantially retains all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 

 are classified as operating leases. The payment of rents for operating leases is recorded as 

 expense on a systematic basis over the duration of the lease.  
 

12. Investment property 
Property that is held by the Group for rental and / or for capital appreciation is classified as 

investment property. In the case that property held by the Group is used partly in the Group’s 
operations and partly for rental or is kept for capital appreciation, the classification is dependent 

on whether the constituent parts can be sold separately. If this is not the case, the property is 
classified as property used in the Group’s operations unless the part used by the Group is 

insignificant. The classification of properties is examined on a systematic basis and is revised 

whenever there are significant changes in their use. 
 

 Investment property is initially recognised at cost that includes transaction costs. Investment 
 property is subsequently measured at fair value based on current market prices at the 

 statement of financial reporting date. The valuation is performed by independent valuers based 
 on the current market value using current prices and recent market transactions. Depending on 

 the nature of the property and the existing market information the determination of fair value 
 may require the use of estimates such as future cash flows from property and the appropriate 

 discount rate for the flows. Properties held for unit-linked investment plans are subject to 

 intermediate valuations performed by the Group’s Management. 
 

 Valuations are performed on a regular basis so that the carrying value does not differ 
 significantly from its fair value. Changes in the fair value of investment property are included in 

 the income statements of the period in which they arise. 
 

 Transfers to or from investment property are made when there is a change in use evidenced by 

 the end of private use, the beginning of an operating lease to another person or the completion 
 of construction or development. For a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied 

 property, the deemed cost of property for subsequent recognition is the fair value at the date of 
 change in use. If an owner-occupied property is transferred to investment property, the Group 

 recognizes this property in accordance with the policy followed for owner-occupied properties 
 until the date of the change in use. 

 
13. Investments 

 All investments are classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss and are 

 measured at fair value. 
 

 All purchases and sales of investments for normal delivery are accounted for on the date of the 
 transaction, on which the Group is committed to purchase or sell the investment.  

 
 Investments cease to be recorded when the contractual rights over their related cash flows 

 expire or when the Group transfers all risks and rewards of ownership. 
 

 Investments classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss include investments 

 held for trading and other investments. 
 

 Investments held for trading are those that relate to unit-linked investments plans and which 
 (a) are acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of sale or repurchase in the near future, 

 or (b) are part of a portfolio of separately identifiable financial instruments that have been 



Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

 
 

19 
 

 

 commonly managed and for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short term profit-

 taking. 
 

 All other investments are classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss upon their 
 initial recognition when (a) the classification removes or reduces significantly an inconsistency 

 that relates to the measurement of assets or liabilities or the recognition of related profits or 

 losses using different bases or (b) they are collectively managed, investment performance is 
 assessed having regard to their fair value in accordance with a verified risk or investment 

 management strategy and information is provided to the Management of the Group on the same 
 basis. 

 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, based on market 

prices for listed securities. The fair value of unlisted securities is estimated using appropriate 
models and valuation methods and/or on the basis of the investee’s financial results, condition 

and prospects of the investee, compared to those of similar companies for which quoted market 

prices are available. Changes in fair value of investments classified at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 
14. Property, equipment and computer software 

 Freehold land and buildings occupied by the Group for use in the provision of services or for 
 administrative purposes are classified as properties used for the operations of the Group and are 

 initially recorded at cost. Periodically, these properties are revalued to their estimated fair value, 
 based on valuations by independent qualified valuers, less accumulated depreciation. 

  

 Depreciation is calculated to write off the revalued amount less the estimated residual value on 
 a straight line basis over the useful economic life, which has been estimated to be between 25 

 and 50 years. 
 

 On disposal of freehold property, the related revaluation reserve balance is transferred to 
 retained earnings / accumulated losses. 

 

 The cost of adapting / improving leasehold property is amortised over 10 years or during the 
 period of the lease if it does not exceed 10 years. 

 
   Equipment and computer software is stated at  cost less  accumulated depreciation  and any 

   impairment. Depreciation is provided to write off their cost on a  straight-line basis over their 
   expected useful life using the following rates per annum: 

 
 Office, furniture and equipment 10% - 25% 

 Motor vehicles   12% - 20% 
 Computer software  25% - 33 ⅓% 

 

 The book value of property, equipment and computer software is reviewed for impairment when 

 events or changes in circumstances indicate that the book value may not be recoverable. If 
 there is such an indication and the book value is greater than the expected recoverable amount 

 the assets or the cash flow creating units are impaired to the recoverable amount. The 
 recoverable amount for property, equipment and computer software is the greater of the net 

 sale proceeds and the value in use. For the calculation of the value in use, the expected future 
 cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the 

 current estimates of the market for the time value of money and the specific risks associated 

 with the asset. For assets that do not generate cash flows from their continuous use, that are 
 independent of the cash flows of other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
 unit that generates the cash flows to which the asset belongs. 
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15. Inventories  

 Property acquired or is under construction with the intention to sell it in the ordinary course of 
 business are classified as inventories and are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

 
 The cost includes: 

 Cost of land acquisition. 

 Property rights and lease for the land. 

 Amounts paid to contractors for construction. 

 Borrowing costs, design and planning costs, the cost of site preparation, professional fees for  

legal services, property transfer taxes, general construction costs and other related 
expenses. 

 
   Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the normal operations of the Group, base on 

 market prices at the reporting date, minus the costs of completion and the estimated costs of 

 sale.  
 

 The cost of inventories recognised in the calculation of the gain or loss on disposal, is 
 determined by reference to specific expenditure incurred on the property sold and for 

 distribution of non-specific costs based on the relative size of the unit being sold. 
 

16. Claims from reinsurers 
 The Group reinsures risks that exist as a result of insurance contracts issued in the normal cause 

 of business. 

 
 Claims from reinsurers include their share of insurance contracts liabilities and of insurance 

 claims and are calculated in accordance with the terms of the reinsurance agreements. 
 

 Reinsurance premiums, commissions from reinsurers and their share in insurance contracts 
 liabilities are shown separately in the financial statements. 

 
 Amounts due from reinsurers are reviewed for possible impairment and are impaired to the 

 recoverable amount when there is objective evidence that the Group may not collect the whole 

 amount due according to the terms of the reinsurance agreements. 
 

17. Insurance receivables and other debtors 
 Insurance receivables and other debtors are presented in the statement of financial position net 

 of the provisions for bad and doubtful debts that may arise in the normal course of business.  
 

 A specific provision is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not fully collect 

 the amount due. The provision is the difference between the book value of the claim and the 
 expected recoverable amount that is defined as the present value of the expected future cash 

 flows including the expected recoverable amounts from guarantees and tangible securities 
 discounted using the real interest rate of the debt. 

 
18. Derivatives 

 Derivative financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position at their fair 
 value. They are valued using valuation models that use observable market data as the base for 

 the valuation. The most frequently used models take into account the current market prices, 

 estimates of discounted cash flows and valuation methods for derivatives. These models use 
 various facts including the creditworthiness of the counterparties involved, current foreign 

 exchange rates, forward exchange rates and interest rate yield curves. The Group is not in 
 possession of derivatives that are valued with models that do not use observable market data as 
 the base for the valuation. 
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 Derivatives are presented as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their 

 fair value is negative. 
 

19. Advances 
 Advances to customers originate when money is provided directly to the customer. They are 

 valued initially at the fair value of the consideration given for the creation of the advance 

 including transaction costs and subsequently are stated net of provisions for impairment, which 
 may arise during the ordinary course of business and are written off to the extent that there is 

 no realistic prospect of recovery.  
 

 The collectability of advances is evaluated based on the individual customer’s overall financial 
 position, resources and repayment history, the prospect of support from any creditworthy 

 guarantors and the realisable value of any collateral.  
 

 When an advance has been classified as impaired, its carrying amount is reduced to its 

 estimated recoverable amount, being the present value of its expected future cash flows, 
 including recoverable amounts from guarantees and collateral. The amount of provision is the 

 difference between the carrying amount and the estimated recoverable amount.  
 

20. Income Tax 
 Provision is made for taxation in accordance with the fiscal regulations and rates that apply in 

 the countries of operation of the Group and is recorded as an expense in the period in which the 
 income is earned. Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method.  

 

   Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences between the 
   tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts at the statement of financial    

   position date that will give rise to taxable amounts in future periods. 
 

 Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused 
 tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 

 such deferred tax assets can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is 

 reviewed at each statement of financial position date and is reduced to the extent that it is no 
 longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 

 income tax asset to be utilised.  
 

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amounts that are expected to be 
 recovered from or paid to the tax authorities, taking into account the legislation and tax rates in 

 force or materially enacted, up to the reporting date. 
 

 Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise from the same tax 

 reporting entity and relate to the same tax authority and when the legal right to offset exists. 
 

21. Cash and cash equivalents 
 For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise 

 cash deposits and other highly liquid investments that are readily realisable into cash or are 
 repayable within three months of the date of acquisition, less any bank overdrafts. 

 
22. Bank loans 

 The bank loans are initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs. 

 
 After initial recognition, bank loans are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

 method. 
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23. Provisions for legal disputes 

 Provisions for legal disputes are recorded when: (a) The Group has a current obligation (legal or 
 presumed) as a result of a past event, (b) it is possible that a cash outflow of economic benefits 

 would be required for settlement of the obligations and (c) a reliable estimate for the amount 
 can be made. 

 

24. Offsetting financial instruments 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities may be offset and the net amount presented in the 

 financial statement position when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset the 
 amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 

 simultaneously. 
 

25. Write off of financial liabilities 
 A financial liability is written off when it is repaid, namely when the contractual liability is fulfilled 

 or cancelled, or when it expires. 
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 
The consolidated financial statements of the Universal Group for the year ended 31 December 2015, were 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 May 2016. 

 

Universal Life Insurance Public Company Ltd (the «Company») was incorporated in Cyprus and is a public 
company in accordance with the provisions of the Cyprus Companies and Income Tax Laws. The Company 

is the parent company of the Universal Group. 
 

The Company's registered office is located at 85 Dighenis Akritas Avenue, 1070 Nicosia. The principal 
activities of the company, its subsidiary and associated companies during the year continued to be life 

business, accident and health insurance business, the administration of superannuation and managed 
pension funds and the provision of other financial services and investment in property. 

 

Operating environment of the Group 
The economic recovery started in the first quarter of 2015 and continued throughout the year at an 

accelerated pace. Therefore, the real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) according to the Statistical Service of 
Cyprus grew by 2.7% in the fourth quarter (on an adjusted basis). For the full year, real GDP grew by 

1.6% compared to decrease of 2.5% in the previous year. Growth was mainly influenced by tourism, 
business services and financial and insurance services from the supply side. On the expenditure side, 

growth was mainly due to investments in buildings, metals and machinery and transport equipment. 
Growth has also been supported by the depreciation of the euro and the reduction of oil prices. 

  

The medium-term prospects remain positive according to the European Commission and the International 

Monetary Fund (IMF). Real GDP is expected to grow by about 2% annually during 2016-2017. Negative 

factors are associated with high levels of non-performing loans and the deterioration of the external 

environment which would endanger an open economy such as Cyprus. Conversely, positive factors in 

economic prospects are associated with a long period of low oil prices, improved conditions in Greece and 

improvement in the international investment climate. 

 

Cyprus has made significant progress in public finances during the program. According to the Statistical 

Service of Cyprus, the budget deficit was almost eliminated, approaching zero in 2014 from 5.7% of GDP 

in 2011. The consolidation of public finances involves significant spending cuts including salaries and 

pensions. Interest payments have also been reduced and limits were set on the ministries' spending. 

Regarding revenues, the better than expected performance led to higher direct and indirect tax receipts 

and social security contributions. The budget is expected to enter into a surplus in 2016-2017, albeit 

marginally, as projected by the European Committee. The general government debt increased to 108.2% 

of GDP in 2014 according to Eurostat and increased slightly in 2015 according to the budget. Public debt is 

expected to decrease to 94.6% of GDP by 2017 according to the European Committee. 

  

The IMF completed the ninth evaluation of the economic adjustment program in January 2016. The eighth 

European Committee evaluation was not completed because a final prerequisite has not been fulfilled. 
 
The Macroeconomic Adjustment Programme of the European Stability Mechanism (ESM) will expire on 

March 31, 2016 and the government decided to terminate it without further arrangements. The Eurogroup 
at its meeting on March 7, 2016 praised the Cypriot authorities for the overall successful implementation 

of the program and stressed the need for further reforms to enhance the resilience of the Cyprus 
economy. After this development, the IMF program officially ending on May 14, 2016, has been canceled 

by the Republic of Cyprus. 

 
Cyprus will remain under post-program surveillance, until the repayment of at least 75% of the funding 
received. Under the supervision of the program, the European Committee in cooperation with the 
European Central Bank (ECB) will conduct regular audits to analyze the fiscal and financial developments 
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and will prepare biannual evaluation report, which may include recommendations for further action when 

necessary. 
 

Acknowledging the progress made in the public sector and the economic recovery, as well as the 
establishment of the overall reform of distress sales and insolvency framework in April 2015, the 

international credit rating agencies upgraded the credit rating of the Republic of Cyprus, by opening the 

way for finance from international capital markets. In May 2015 and October 2015, the Government of 
Cyprus proceeded with the issuance of debt amounting to € 1 billion with maturity in 2022 with a yield of 

4.00% per annum and debt with maturity in 2025 amounting to € 1 billion with a 4.25% yield per annum. 
 

The legislations constituting the insolvency framework came into force in May 2015 and as a result came 
into force the law on divestments that had been voted by the Cyprus Parliament in September 2014. 

 
2.      SIGNIFIGANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
 

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRSs requires that the Group’s 
Management adopts assumptions and judgments that affect the  book values of assets and liabilities, the 

disclosures of contingent liabilities and commitments at the date of preparation of the financial statements 
as well as the income and expenses for the period  under review. As a result actual results may differ 

from these estimates. These estimates are periodically reviewed and when adjustments are required 
these are accounted for in the period in which they occur. The main assumptions and estimates with 

respect to the future that are made at the statement of financial position date and incorporate significant 
risk of material adjustments to the book values of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 

presented below.  

 
Going concern 
The Management of the Group has assessed the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  The 
Management believes that the Group is able to successfully manage its business risks despite the 

uncertain economic outlook of the cyprus economy and that it has sufficient resources to continue its 
operational existence in the near future.  Thus, it continues to use the base of a going concern in the 

preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements. 

 
Life insurance policies 
For life insurance policies actuarial estimates are made, for every year that the Group is at risk, of the 
expected number of deaths based on standard international mortality tables that reflect historical 

mortality experience. The expected number of deaths determines the value of potential future benefits 
expected to be paid. This value contributes to the calculation of adequate reserves that are monitored in 

relation to the expected revenue from current and future premiums Group. 
 

Estimates are also made as to future investment income arising from assets backing life insurance 

contracts. These estimates are based on current market returns as well as expectations about future 
economic and financial developments. 

 
Estimates for future deaths, voluntary terminations, investment returns and administration expenses are 

used to calculate the liability over the term of the contract. At each reporting date, these are reassessed 
for adequacy, with corresponding adjustments. 

 
Accident and health insurance policies 
For accident and health insurance policies, estimates are made for the expected ultimate cost of claims 

reported to the Group as well as of claims incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) at the reporting date. The 
assessment of claims is based on past experience and on actual facts up to the date of preparation of the 

financial statements. 
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Provisions for impairment of debtors 
The Group reviews its loans portfolio for evidence that it may not be able to collect all amounts due from 
an individual loan or a portfolio of homogeneous loans. Evidence includes the customer’s payment record, 

overall financial position and the realisable value of any collateral. If such evidence exists, the recoverable 
amount is estimated and a provision is made for loan impairment and charged to the statement of 

comprehensive income. The review of credit risk is continuous.  The methodology and assumptions used 

for estimating the provision are regularly reviewed to reduce any differences between estimated and 
actual losses. 

 
Property classification 
The Group determines whether a property is classified as investment property or inventory.  

 

Investment property includes land and buildings which are not occupied substantially for use by or in the 
operations of the Group, nor for sale as part of its operations, but primarily to earn rental income and for 

its appreciation in value.  

 
Inventories consist of property held for sale in the ordinary course of business.   Mostly, these are the 

properties that the Group intends to develop and sell before or after completion of construction.  
 

Classification of investments at fair value through profit or loss 
The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 for the classification of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss. 
 

The Group has classified its portfolio of life business in this category, the returns on which are determined 

based on their overall return in the form of interest, dividends and changes in fair value. 
 

Fair value of financial instruments 
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument is the price negotiation in an active market. If 

the market where a financial instrument is traded is not active then an alternative method of valuation is 
used. The majority of valuation methods used by the Group are based solely on observable market data, 

therefore, the valuation to be considered reliable. However, certain financial instruments are valued based 

on methods that use one or more important data are not observable. The valuation methods based on 
non observable data require more management discretion for the calculation of fair value than that 

required for methods based solely on observable data. 
 

The valuation methods used to calculate the fair value include comparisons to similar financial instruments 
for which observable prices exist, use of discounted cash flow models and other valuation methods 

commonly used by market participants. The valuation methods include assumptions that would have been 
used by other market participants and assumptions about the yield curve, interest rates, exchange rates, 

volatilities and the rate of non-payment of debts. In measuring financial instruments by comparison with 

other methods used for similar instruments, the Management takes into account the maturity, the 
structure and evaluation of the instrument used as comparable. 

 
The Group uses models based on non-observable data only for valuation of non listed equity shares, 

whose value is not material to the Group. In these instances, estimate are made to take into account 
uncertainties in fair values resulting from the lack of market data, such as lack of liquidity. 

 
The fair value of bonds and equity shares that are not traded in active markets is determined using  

valuation models. These models are periodically reviewed by qualified staff to confirm their validity. To 

the maximum extent possible, the valuation models are based on market data well as factors such as the 
identification of credit risk and variability that require management estimates and assumptions. 
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Taxation 
The Group operates and is therefore subject to taxation in Cyprus and Romania. Estimates are required in 
determining the provision for taxes at the statement of financial position date and therefore the final tax 

determination is uncertain. Where the final tax is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the income tax expense, the tax liabilities and deferred tax liabilities in the 

period in which the final tax is agreed with the tax  authorities. 

 

3.        INVESTMENT AND OTHER INCOME 

 

 

4.        COSTS ANALYSIS 

 

4.1 Operating expenses of insurance operations 

 

  

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Life insurance and annuity business   

Interest income 883 1 685 

Dividends 173 132 

Rental income from investment property 94 101 

 1 150 1 918 

Accident and health insurance business   

Interest income 10 25 

 2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Consolidated Statement of Income on Life Insurance and  
Annuity Business   6 659 6 624 

Consolidated Statement of Income on Accident and Health Insurance Business 3 184 2 839 

 9 843 9 463 

Salaries and employer’s contributions 6 164 6 112 

Retirement benefit costs 475 476 

Directors’ emoluments:   

 - Fees 157 135 

 - Emoluments in executive capacity 161 161 

 - Employer’s contributions 27 27 

Depreciation of property and equipment 316 317 

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 

 

 

352 20 
(Profit) / Loss on disposal and write-off of property and 
equipment and intangible fixed assets (4) 3 

Operating lease rentals for buildings 108 102 

Advertising and promotion expenses 282 226 
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Other operating expenses include the fees (including taxes) of the independent auditors of the Company 

Ernst & Young Cyprus Limited for audit and other professional services rendered as follows: 

 

 2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Parent company:   

- Fees for the audit of financial statements 88 88 

- Fees for tax services  3 4 

- Fees for other services 18 18 

Subsidiaries:   

- Fees for the audit of financial statements 17 15 

- Fees for tax services 3 2 

  

4.2 Other expenses not allocated 

 

Other expenses as presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follows: 

 

 2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Interest on settlement of taxes - 2 

Expenses allocated to the administration of 
superannuation and pension funds 44 34 

 44 36 

 

5. NET (LOSS) / PROFIT FROM OTHER OPERATIONS 

 

 2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Income from fees and commissions 299 315 

Interest income   3 11 

Increase to the fair value of other investments - 17 

 302 343 

Salaries and other operating expenses (305) (222) 

Provision for impairment (25) (14) 

Change in fair value of investment properties  (520) 278 

 (548) 385 

 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 

Repair and maintenance expenses 320 288 

Telecommunications and postages 144 164 

Administrative expenses and related commissions 289 320 

Printing and stationery 160 145 

Other operating expenses 892 967 

 9 843 9 463 
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Other operations are carried out by subsidiaries acting mainly as general insurance intermediaries and 

investors in property. 

 

6. TAXATION 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income   

Corporation tax  675 1 005 

Special contribution to the defence fund 3 3 

Deferred taxation 

 

 

570 (34) 

Total taxation 1 248 974 

   

Analysis of taxation charge   

Tax at 1,5% of gross premiums of life insurance business in Cyprus 675 694 

Taxation on profits for the year from other operations at 
normal tax rates in Cyprus at 12,5% (2014: 12,5%) - 324 

Tax for previous years - (13) 

Special contribution to the defence fund 3 3 

Taxation on property revaluation surplus at 
capital gains tax rates 570 (34) 

Total taxation 1 248 974 

 

The agreement of taxation based on profit before tax using the applicable tax rates is shown below: 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Profit before taxation 2 440 3 473 

Tax at normal rates in Cyprus 305 434 

Tax impact:   

 - expenses not deductible 457 323 

 - income not taxable (171) (433) 

Additional minimum tax 51 694 

Tax for previous years - (13) 

Losses carried forward 33 - 

Deferred tax on capital gains tax rate 570 (34) 

Special contribution to the defence fund 3 3 

 1 248 974 

 

Cyprus 
Corporation Tax 

Corporation tax consists of the tax on insurance operations and other gains.  The taxation of insurance 

business is subject to special taxation provisions. The corporation tax payable in Cyprus in relation to life 
insurance business is the greater amount of: 

(a) the tax which is calculated at the rate of 12,5% (2014: 12,5%) on the taxable profits attributable to 
the shareholders, which consists of the net income / expense in the income statement of life insurance 

and annuity business and 
(b) the tax which is calculated at the rate of 1,5% on gross premium income (minimum tax).The tax 

charge for life insurance business in Cyprus for the years 2015 and 2014 represents the minimum tax. 
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Corporation tax in respect of accident and health insurance business and of other financial services in 

Cyprus is calculated at the rate of 12,5% (2014: 12,5%) on the taxable income of the year. 
 

Tax losses amount to €261 002 (2014: €154 664) resulting from the activities of subsidiaries in Cyprus. 
Supported pursuant to current legislation, tax losses can be carried forward and offset against taxable 

income of the next five years from the reporting date. The remaining tax losses at 31 December 2015 may 

be offset against future taxable profits up to 2020 (2014: up to 2019). 
 

Deferred tax is not recognized for the above damage if not expected to be used before they expire. 
 

Special Contribution to the Defence Fund 

The special contribution to the defense fund is calculated at the rate of 3% on rental income and 17% 
(2014: 17%) on foreign dividends. 

 

Romania 
Corporation tax 

Tax losses also arise from operations of the subsidiary companies of the Group (Priority Properties Srl και 

Unilife Properties Srl) in Romania.  The balance of tax losses at 31 December 2015 were €6 095 000 
(2014: €5 114 000). The taxation on companies is calculated at 16% of net profit (2014: 16%). Losses 

can be carried forward and can be used against future taxable profits for seven years as shown below: 
 

 €000 

Carried forward 
to 

2009  208 2016 

2010 411 2017 

2011 1 178 2018 

2012  1 221 2019 

2013 1 106 2020 

2014 886 2021 

2015 1 085 2022 

Σύνολο 6 095  

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Tax payable 242 233 

     

Tax receivable 210 159 

 

Deferred taxation 

The balance of deferred taxation is in respect of: 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Parent company   

Difference between wear and tear allowances and depreciation  (1 241) (728) 

Revaluation on investment properties (3 884) (3 897) 

  (5 125) (4 625) 

Subsidiary companies   

Revaluation on investment properties (2 758) (2 728) 

Deferred taxation liability (7 883) (7 353) 
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7. PROFIT PER SHARE 

 

The profit per share is calculated on the basis of profit for the year after taxation divided by the weighted 
average of shares in circulation during the period. 

 

Diluted profit per share is not presented as there were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in circulation 
during the period. 

 

The amounts used for the calculation of basic profit per share are shown below: 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Profit for the year 2 053 2 499 

Weighted average number of shares in circulation during the year 13 525 13 523 

 

8. DIVIDENDS 

 

At an extraordinary general meeting held on 29 December 2015 it was decided to distribute an interim 

dividend from 2013 earnings of €0,11 per ordinary share by issuing Company shares. The issue price was 

€5,51 per share, based on the calculated Embedded Value of the Company at 30 September 2015. The 

interim dividend was paid on 31 December 2015 and amounted to €1 487 000. An amount of €24 886 was 

deducted at source for special defence contribution, where applicable, under the Special Contribution for 

the Defence of the Republic Law. 

 

During 2014, the Board of Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend.  

 
9. CASH AND DEPOSITS AT BANKS 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Cash in hand and at banks 3 747 1 643 

Bank overdraft (3 843) (3 515) 

As per the consolidated cash flow statement (96) (1 872) 

Deposits held as investments of the insurance business 24 802 34 696 

 24 706 32 824 

 

 

Deposits  with  banks  earn interest  from 0% - 2.8% annually (2014: 0% - 3.0% annually)  and  relate to  

deposits maturing within one year. 

 

An amount of €441 000 (2014: €760 000) is pledged as collateral by banks to provide bank guarantees 

required for the Company's operations. 

 

The bank overdraft is payable on demand and is not guaranteed. 
 
 
 
 



Notes to the Financial Statements 

 
 

31 
 

 

10. DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS 

 

    2015             2014 

    €000             €000 

Accrued interest 91              146 

Debtors     3 823            3 945 

 

 

 

 

  3 914            4 091 

Relating to unit-linked funds        25               36 

Other debtors and prepayments   3 889           4 055 

   3 914           4 091 

 

The above debtors arose in the normal course of business, are due within 12 months and do not bear 

interest. 

 

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 

    2015            2014 

    €000            €000  

1 January 110 697 113 429 

Purchases 6 981 20 400 

Disposals (7 209) (20 689) 

Transfers from investment properties to properties for own use - (815) 

Transfers from properties for own use to investment properties - 1 200 

Revaluation (617) (2 828) 

31 December 

 

 

109 852 110 697 

Investments relating to unit-linked funds 59 194 59 564 

Other Investments 50 658 51 133 

 

 
109 852 110 697 

 
 

Rental  income  from   investment  properties (note 3)   €94 000 (2014: €101 000)  includes an amount of 

€39 000 (2014: €42 000) rentals from investments relating to unit linked funds. 

 

The change in the estimated fair value of investment properties during the year is recognised in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income and in the income statement of life insurance and 

annuities business for own investments and investment of life insurance respectively.  
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Description of valuation techniques and inputs used in measuring the fair value of investment 

properties 

 
Category Valuation technique Significant non- 

observable  
inputs 

Variance values  
(average) 

 
Offices and other 
commercial premises 

 
Comparative market 
method and Method of 
income capitalisation   

 
Annual rent valuation per 
sq.m. 
 
Annual rental yield 

 
€72-€94 
 
 
6,00% 

   
Annual estimated  
fair value per sq.m.  

 
€1 034 - €4 177 

   
Area in sq.m. 

 
Total 3 644 

  
 
Highest and optimal use 

 
Existing 

 

 Building plots and 
agricultural plots 

Comparative market 
method 

 
Annual estimated  
fair value per sq.m. 

 
€10 - €34 

  Area in sq.m. Total 4 531 983 

  
 
Highest and optimal use  

 
Existing 

 
Residential Comparative market 

method 

 
Annual estimated  
fair value per sq.m. 

 
€1 438 - €1 647 

  

 
Area in sq.m. 

 
Total 2 761 

  
 
Highest and optimal use  
 
 

 
Existing 

  

The comparative market method is based on the comparison to properties with similar physical and legal 

characteristics of both the area under review and in other areas. These comparative data collected from 
the archives of the Land Registry Department and have been evaluated taking into account factors such as 

the specific characteristics of the property, location, urban data, and any restrictions on use and features 

of the immediate and wider area.  
 

The capitalisation of income method determines the value of the property by capitalizing the annual rental 
income at the rate of annual rental yield and is applicable on a case by case basis based on the knowledge 

of the market, the most widely acceptable levels of return of income by type of property and 
attractiveness of the area and its special features. The methodology does not assume any direct or 

ongoing renting of the property and the yield used for the capitalisation of rental income takes into 
account the risk to remain empty until a new tenant is found.  

 

Recent developments that have affected the Cypriot economy have brought instability in the property 
market and had the effect of significantly reducing property transactions. The limited information (lack of 

sufficient comparable sales) and low levels of liquidity and market activity have affected the degree of 
certainty in conducting assessments. 
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12. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS  

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Debt securities (note 12.1) 35 698 37 463 

Equity shares (note 12.2) 51 348 63 239 

Multi asset funds (note 12.3) 29 492 18 008 

Money market fund (note 12.4) 7 799 - 

 124 337 118 710 

   

Investments relating to unit-linked funds 110 097 100 202 

Other Investments 14 240 18 508 

 124 337 118 710 

 

12.1 Debt securities 

 

 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 

Cyprus Government - 700 

Foreign companies 35 178 34 913 

Cyprus public companies 520 1 850 

 35 698 37 463 

Repayable:   

Within one year - 1 208 

Between two and five years 520 642 

After five years 35 178 35 613 

 35 698 37 463 

   

Listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange  520 2 550 

Listed on European stock exchanges 35 178 34 913 

 35 698 37 463 

 

Debt securities include unit-linked debt securities that are classified as held for trading and amount to   
€31 787 000 (2014: €28 162 000). 

 

12.2 Equity shares 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange 6 141 5 924 

Listed on European stock exchanges 45 012 57 093 

Unlisted 195 222 

 51 348 63 239 

 

Investments   in   equity   shares   include  unit  linked  equity  shares  amounting  to  €44 940 000  
(2014: €54 032 000). 
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12.3 Multi asset funds 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Listed on European stock exchanges  6 074 4 232 

Unlisted  23 418 13 776 

 29 492 18 008 

 

Investments in multi asset funds include unit linked multi assets funds amounting to €25 571 000 

(2014: €18 008 000). 

 

12.4 Money market fund 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Unlisted 7 799 - 

 

Investments in money market funds are unit linked. 

 

13. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Mortgage loans to policyholders (note 13.1) 2 422 2 492 

Loans on policies (note 13.2) 3 517 4 300 

 5 939 6 792 

   
Investments relating to unit-linked funds 1 123 2 088 

Other Investments 4 816 4 704 

 5 939 6 792 

 

13.1 Mortgage loans to policyholders 

 

Mortgage loans to policyholders bear interest at 5,5% - 7% annually (2014: 5,5% - 7% annually), are 
secured by first mortgage on the property or by bank guarantee and are repayable before or upon 

maturity of the life insurance policies. 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Mortgage loans to policyholders 3 403 3 575 

Provision for impairment (981) (1 083) 

 2 422 2 492 

 

13.2 Loans on policies 

 

Loans  on  policies are secured by the surrender value of the life insurance policies and bear interest at 
7,25% annually (2014: 7,25% annually). 
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14. INVESTMENTS OF SUPERANNUATION AND MANAGED PENSION FUNDS 
 
The assets of the superannuation and managed pension funds are shown below: 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Debt securities 4 907 4 918 

Equity shares 6 244 6 064 

Multi asset funds  3 022 2 679 

Money market funds 500 - 

Bank deposits 718 791 

 15 391 14 452 

 

The assets of the superannuation and managed pension funds, in addition to the above, include 

investment in the share capital of Universal Golf Enterprises PLC, subsidiary company of the group. For 

the purposes of the consolidated financial statements this investment has been eliminated on 
consolidation and the assets and liabilities of Universal Golf Enterprises PLC are presented in the 

appropriate lines of the statement of financial position. 

 

The movement of the fund is presented below: 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

1 January 15 257 13 824 

Employer’s and members contribution 872 812 

Income from investments 9 67 

Payments to members (529) (499) 

Administrative expenses (44) (34) 

Loss on sale of investments (3) (7) 

Increase in fair value of investments 623 1 094 

31 December 16 185 15 257 

 

15. BANK LOAN 

 

On 29 December 2011, the Group entered into a five-year loan agreement for €10 millions with a floating 

rate of 3 month Euribor plus 3,96%. The loan is for 60 months and repayment is as follows: 
- 8 consecutive quarterly instalments of approximately €138 000 each. 

- 11 consecutive quarterly instalments of approximately €700 000 each. 

- 1 instalment payable on the maturity date of the loan at 27 December 2016 for €3 410 000 covering 
capital and interest. 

 

The repayment obligations of the loan are as follows: 

 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 

Within one year 4 880 2 545 

After one year - 4 850 

 4 880 7 395 
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The loan is secured by a mortgage on property owned by the Group (note 19) and the Group undertook to 

maintain throughout the term of the loan, deposits with this bank that will represent at least 100% (2014: 
120%) of the outstanding balance of the loan.  
 

16. PREMIUMS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER INSURANCE RECEIVABLES 
 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Premiums receivable 3 698 5 955 

Amount receivable from insurance agents 160 82 

Amount receivable from reinsurers 476 1 558 

 4 334 7 595 

 

The above amounts are receivable within one year and bear no interest. 

 
The amounts receivable from reinsurers include their share in claims as presented in note 22 and are 

shown net of the amounts payable to them. 
 
17. ADVANCES 
  

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Advances 90 90 

Provision for impairment (90) (66) 

 - 24 
 

 

The advances were made in the past to individuals for investment purposes and are fully provided for 

impairment.  These advances are not unit linked. 

 
18. INVENTORIES 

 

Inventories consist of properties, the Group owns and intends to develop and sell before or after the 

completion of their construction.  
 

These properties are owned by the wholly owned subsidiary Universal Golf Enterprises PLC established to 
develop real estate for sale in the ordinary course of business. Therefore these properties are presented 

as inventories. 
 

The insurance investment plans of the Group and the retirement and pension funds participate in the 
share capital of Universal Golf Enterprises PLC. For purposes of calculating the value of the Funds those 

shares are valued at fair value. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Notes to the Financial Statements 

 
 

37 
 

 

19. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 

2015 

Properties Equipment Total 

€000 €000 €000 

Cost or fair value    

1 January 19 281  6 176 25 457 

Additions 75 154 229 

Disposals and write-offs - (173) (173) 

Revaluation (132) - (132) 

31 December 19 224 6 157            25 381 

Depreciation    

1 January  700 5 728               6 428 

Charge for the year 160 156                  316 

Disposal and write-offs - (173)                (173) 

Revaluation (160) -                (160) 

31 December 700 5 711              6 411 

Net book value    

31 December 18 524 446            18 970 

 

All properties are freehold and are used for the Group’s operations. All properties were revalued in 2015 

by independent qualified valuers, on the basis of fair value. The cumulative surplus as at 31 December 
2015 on revaluation is included in the Group revaluation reserves (note 27) and amounts to €8 676 000 

(2014:  €8 608 000). 
 

The net book value of properties of the Group on a cost less accumulated depreciation basis, would have 
been   €8 011 000   (2014:  €8 067 000).  Properties   include land   amounting   to  €7 291 000 (2014: 

€7 295 000) for which no depreciation is charged. 
 

2014 

   

   

Cost or fair value    

1 January 19 335  6 374 25 709 

Additions 894 134 1 028 

Disposals and write-offs - (332) (332) 

Revaluation (449) - (449) 

Transfer of property to investment property (499) - (499) 

31 December 19 281 6 176 25 457 

Depreciation    

1 January  - 5 899 5 899 

Charge for the year 164 153 317 

Disposal and write-offs - (324) (324) 

Transfer of property to investment property 701 - 701 

Revaluation (165) - (165) 

31 December 700 5 728 6 428 

Net book value    

31 December 18 581 448 19 029 
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Depreciation of properties and equipment for the year is included in operating expenses of insurance 

operations (note 4) in the consolidated statements of income for each insurance business. 
 

Properties valued € 11 995 000 (2014: 12 065 000) were pledged as collateral in relation to the Company's 
operations (note 15). 

 

Description of valuation techniques and inputs used in measuring the fair value of property 

 
Category Technical valuation Significant  

non-observable inputs 
Variation of values 
(average) 

 
Offices  

 
Comparative market 
method and Method of 
income capitalisation  

 
Annual rent valuation per 
sq.m. 
 
Rental yield  

 
€72-€180 
 
 
5,00%-6,00% 

  
Annual estimated 
fair value per sq.m. 
  

 
€1 162 - €2 857 
 

  
Area in sq.m. 

 
Total 13 033 

 
 
Highest and optimal use 

 
Existing 

 

20. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 

       Software 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Cost    

1 January 5 893 5 864 

Additions 347 29 

31 December 6 240 5 893 

Amortisation   

1 January 4 003 3 983 

Charge for the year 352 20 

31 December 4 355 4 003 

Net book value 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

31 December 1 885 1 890 

 

The cost of intangible assets includes the acquisition cost of a software whose implementation is 

completed in 2015 and depreciation thereon is charged in the year. 

  

21. CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Creditors 1 116 1 350 

Expenses due  894  676 

Provisions for expenses 421 555 

 2 431 2 581 

 

The creditors represent amounts payable within 12 months in the normal course of business of the Group 
and do not bear interest. 
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22. INSURANCE LIABILITIES 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Obligations to policyholders compensations 13 758 13 942 

Amount payable to insurance intermediaries 63 31 

Amounts payable to reinsurers   

- Life insurance and annuity business 902 341 

- Accident and health insurance business 732 - 

Deposits by reinsurers   

- Life insurance and annuity business 2 401 3 389 

- Accident and health insurance business 4 487 4 497 

 22 343 22 200 

 

The movement in the balance of claims payable to policyholders is as follows: 

 

 

23. UNAPPROPRIATED SURPLUS OF LIFE INSURANCE BUSINESS 

 

The movement for 2015 and 2014 in the unappropriated surplus is as follows: 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

1 January 670 1 279 

Surplus for the year before distribution 4 696 741 

Transfer to the results of life insurance and annuity business (net) (4 300) (900) 

Appropriation to policies with Discretionary Participation 
Features (DPF) (note 24)  (368) (450) 

31 December 698 670 

 

The unappropriated surplus is presented separately in the Consolidated Income Statement of Life 

Insurance Business and Annuities and distributed to shareholders and to policyholders with discretionary 

participation features at the discretion of the Board of Directors, taking into account the Actuary’s 

recommendation. 

 
 
 
 

 

      Gross claims Reinsurers’ share       Net claims 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 

1 January 13 942 11 983 (508) (752) 13 434 11 231 

Increase in amount due regarding  
life policyholders’ claims 46 236 48 244 (1 799) (1 105) 44 437 47 139 

Settlement of amount due 
regarding life policyholders’ claims (46 420) (46 285) 1 182 1 349 (45 238) (44 936) 

31 December 13 758 13 942 (1 125) (508) 12 633 13 434 
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24. INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES 

 

 

The life insurance contracts liabilities are analysed as follows: 

 

 

The movement for 2015 and 2014 in the life insurance contracts liabilities is as follows: 

 

 

 

 
 

 
     Insurance  

contract liabilities Reinsurers’ share    Net liabilities 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 

Life insurance policies 263 880 272 779 (2 652) (3 639) 261 228   269 140   

Accident and health insurance 
policies 10 743 10 961 (7 471) (7 581) 3 272 3 380 

Total insurance contracts liabilities 274 623 283 740 (10 123) (11 220) 264 500 272 520 

      Insurance  
contract liabilities Reinsurers’ share    Net liabilities 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 

With fixed and guaranteed terms 9 980 11 844 (2 090) (3 090) 7 890 8 754 

With Discretionary Participation 
Features (DPF) 24 822 31 826 - - 24 822 31 826 

Without DPF 229 078 229 109 (562) (549) 228 516 228 560 

Total life insurance 
contracts liabilities 263 880 272 779 (2 652) (3 639) 261 228 269 140 

      Insurance  
contract liabilities Reinsurers’ share    Net liabilities 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 

1 January 272 779 276 967 (3 639) (3 597) 269 140 273 370 

Premiums received 44 980 46 289 (3 122) (3 371) 41 858 42 918 

Payments for death claims, 
surrenders and maturities (46 236) (48 245) 1 798 1 105 (44 438) (47 140) 

Management charges (11 357) (11 428) - - (11 357) (11 428) 

Adjustment due to change 
in assumptions (4 604) 3 744 1 065 (250) (3 539) 3 494 

Return on unit-linked investments  6 510 7 750 - - 6 510 7 750 

Appropriation of surplus to 
insurance contracts with DPF 368 450 - - 368 450 

Diversification experience 
requirements and benefits and 
other movements 1 440 (2 748) 1 246 2 474 2 686 (274) 

31 December 263 880 272 779 (2 652) (3 639) 261 228 269 140 
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The accident and health insurance contracts liabilities are analysed as follows: 

 

 

The provision for reported claims of accident and health insurance business and claims incurred but not 

reported are analysed as follows: 

 

 

The provision for unearned premiums of accident and health insurance business is analysed as follows: 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
     Insurance  

contract liabilities Reinsurers’ share    Net liabilities 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 

Provision for reported claims  4 041 2 822 (2 989) (2 075) 1 052 747 

Provision for claims incurred 
but not reported (Ι.Β.Ν.R.) 1 950 1 947 (1 420) (1 419) 530 528 

Total provision for claims 5 991 4 769 (4 409) (3 494) 1 582 1 275 

Provision for claims  
management costs 249 215 - - 249 215 

Provision for unearned premiums 4 503 5 977 (3 062) (4 087) 1 441 1 890 

Total accident and health 
insurance contracts liabilities 10 743 10 961 (7 471) (7 581) 3 272 3 380 

      Insurance  
contract liabilities Reinsurers’ share    Net liabilities 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 

1 January 4 769 4 799 (3 494) (2 432) 1 275 2 367 

Provision for the year 25 808 23 178 (18 541) (17 602) 7 267 5 576 

Payments for claims 
during the year (24 586) (23 208) 17 626 16 540 (6 960) (6 668) 

31 December 5 991 4 769 (4 409) (3 494) 1 582 1 275 

      Insurance  
contract liabilities Reinsurers’ share    Net liabilities 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 

1 January 5 977 5 865 (4 087) (2 603) 1 890 3 262 

Premiums:       

-  written during the year 31 438 31 474 (22 808) (22 675) 8 630 8 799 

-  earned during the year (32 912) (31 362) 23 833 21 191 (9 079) (10 171) 

31 December 4 503 5 977 (3 062) (4 087) 1 441 1 890 
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25. INSURANCE CONTRACTS LIABILITIES AND REINSURANCE-TERMS, CONDITIONS, 

ASSUMPTIONS AND SENSITIVITIES 

 

Terms and conditions 

Life insurance contracts 
Life insurance contracts offered by the Group include whole life, term insurances, endowment, annuities 

and unit-linked policies. In addition there is a choice of supplementary benefits for disability, accidental 

death, dread disease and medical expenses. 
 

Whole life insurance policies are conventional products where lump sum benefits are payable on death 
and which attain surrender value over the duration of the contract. 

 
Term insurance policies refer to plans with fixed duration aiming to provide death benefits. In case of 

death within the period of cover, the sum assured is paid. On maturity these plans expire with no value.  
 

Endowment insurance policies refer to fixed duration plans where the sum assured is paid in case of 

death during the period of cover or upon expiration of the policy. 
 

Annuities refer to plans where periodic payments begin at a predetermined age and continue for life. 
 

Unit linked insurance policies refer to plans (whole life or with fixed duration) where the amount payable 
upon death is the greater of the chosen sum assured and the value of the units allocated to the 

policyholder. 
 
Discretionary Participating Features (DPF) of life insurance contracts 
Certain insurance policies include Discretionary Participation Features (DPF). A DPF is defined as the 
contractual right to receive additional benefits supplementary to the guaranteed benefits: 

(a) that may form an important part of the total contractual benefits, 
(b) the amount of which is annually declared by the Group following the actuarial valuation of the 

liabilities, and 
(c) which are based on surplus of life insurance business. 

 

Accident and health insurance contracts 
The Group provides health plans that offer various options as to the type (in-hospital or outpatient), the 

amount and the geographical location of the cover. 
 

In addition, the Group writes personal accident policies that offer insurance cover in case of accidental 
death or disability following an accident. 

 
Key assumptions  

Material judgment by the Group’s management is required in the choice of assumptions and in 

determining the insurance contracts liabilities. 
 

The assumptions used are based on past experience, current internal data and conditions and on external 
market data which reflect current market prices and other published information. Assumptions are 

adopted at each valuation date and are periodically reassessed in order to maintain a realistic and reliable 
basis for the actuarial valuation. 

 
For insurance contracts estimates are made in two stages: At inception of the contract, the Group 

determines the assumptions in relation to future deaths, voluntary terminations, investment returns and 

administration expenses. Subsequently, at each reporting date, an actuarial valuation is conducted to 
determine whether the liabilities are adequate in the light of current estimates.   
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The key assumptions to which the estimation of liabilities is particularly sensitive are as follows: 

 
Mortality rates 
Assumptions are based on standard international mortality tables, according to the type of insurance 
contract. In addition a study is conducted of historical mortality experience (actual deaths) for comparison 

purposes and if this data is considered adequate and thus statistically reliable, then it is incorporated into 

the abovementioned tables. 
 

An increase in mortality rates will lead to a larger number of claims and in a shorter than expected period 
of time which will increase the expenditure and reduce profits for the shareholders. 

 
Investments return and discount factor 
The weighted average rate of return is derived based on the assets that back liabilities, consistent with 
the long term asset allocation strategy of the Group. These estimates are based on current market returns 

as well as expectations about future economic and financial developments. 

 
An increase in investment returns will lead to increased profits for the shareholders. 

 
Administration expenses 
Operating expense assumptions reflect the projected costs of maintaining and servicing the in force 
policies and associated overhead expenses and are based on the actual expenses of the Group, taking 

into account the legislative provisions for calculating insurance contracts liabilities. Assumptions are also 
made with regard to the rate of increase of expenses in relation to the rate of inflation. 

 

An increase in the level of expenses will result in a reduction of profits for the shareholders. 
 
Persistency (Lapses) 
Every year an analysis is performed of the percentage of terminated policies, using actual data up to the 

preceding year. These percentages may differ according to the type and duration of the plan. According 
to the Cyprus Laws on Insurance Services and Other Related Issues, no assumptions are made in the 

actuarial valuation for the percentage of terminations. 

 
The assumptions that have the greatest effect on the consolidated statement of financial position and the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income are listed below: 
 

Life business assumptions Mortality rates Discount factor 
Administration 

expenses 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Policies with fixed and 
guaranteed benefits 

 
55% Α67/70 

 
65% Α67/70 

 
2,60% 

 
3,15% 

 
€93,0 

 
€94,0 

Policies with DPF 55% Α67/70 65% Α67/70 1,40% 1,40% €93,0 €94,0 

Policies without DPF 55% Α67/70 65% Α67/70 2,60% 3,15% €93,0 €94,0 
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Sensitivity of results 

 

The table below presents the sensitivity of results to the changes in assumptions that have the greatest 

effects. 

 

 

Change in 
assumption 

 Increase/(decrease) 
 in profit and equity 

 2015 2014 

% €000 €000 

Mortality     

- Increase 10 (672) (951) 

- Decrease 10 486 796 

Discount factor    

- Increase 1 3 477 3 881 

- Decrease 1 (5 287) (5 752) 

Administration expenses    

- Increase 10 (2 396) (2 734) 

- Decrease 10  1 896  2 158 

 

26. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Authorised   

16 000 000 shares of €1 each 16 000 16 000 

   

Issued and fully paid   

13 523 000 shares of €1 each 13 523 13 523 

Dividend reinvestment 266 - 

 13 789 13 523 

 

At an extraordinary general meeting held on 29 December 2015 it was decided to distribute an interim 

dividend from 2013 earnings of €0,11 per ordinary share for the total amount of €1 487 000, by issuing 

Company shares. The issue price was €5,51 per share, based on the calculated Embedded Value of the 

Company as at 30 September 2015. 

 

In cases when calculating the number of shares granted to each shareholder as shown above resulted is a 

fractional number, then if this fractional number was less than ½ it was ignored while in the cases it was 

equal to or greater than ½ then a whole additional share was given. 

 

The beneficiaries of the interim dividend were those who held shares as at 23 December 2015. The 

interim dividend in the form of shares was paid to shareholders on 31 December 2015. 

 

As a result of dividend reinvestment 265 452 shares were issued and the issued and fully paid up share 

capital of the Company increased by €265 452. From the difference between the nominal value and the 

issue price of the new shares a share premium was created amounting to €1 197 206. 
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27. REVALUATION RESERVES AND UNDISTRIBUTED PROFITS 

 

The revaluation reserves are the difference between fair value and cost for the properties used for the 

Group's operations and the deferred tax arising from the revaluation. 

 

 

Retained profits 

The retained profits are the only reserve that is distributable as dividend. 

As from 1 January 2003, companies which do not distribute at least 70% of their profits after tax, as 
defined by the Special Contribution for the Defence of the Republic Law, during the two years after the 

end of the year of assessment to which the profits refer, will be deemed to have distributed this amount 
as dividend. Special contribution for defence at 17% (2014: 17%) will be payable on such deemed 

dividend distribution. Gains are excluded to the extent that these are attributable to shareholders who are 
not tax residents of Cyprus and hold shares in the Group either directly and / or indirectly by the end of 

the period of two years from the end of the tax year in which the profits refer to. The amount of this 

deemed dividend distribution is reduced by any actual dividend paid for the year in which the profits. This 
special contribution for defence is paid by the Company on behalf of the shareholders. 

 

28. OPERATING LEASES AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 

 

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases for properties are as follows: 

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Future minimum lease payments:   

- within one year 101 108 

- between two and five years 5 74 

 106 182 

 

The commitments under operating leases are subject to the provisions of the relevant operating lease 

agreements. These agreements contain provisions for future adjustments on the lease amounts. In 
addition to the above, on the expiration of the lease period the Group has the right for renewal. 

 

Commitments for contracted capital expenditure for the Group amount to €387 000 (2014: €143 000). 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Revaluation reserves   

 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 

1 January 8 608 8 931 

Revaluation of fixed assets 28 (284) 

Deferred taxation 40 (39) 

31 December  8 676 8 608 
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29. NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

 

 Note 2015 2014 

 €000 €000 

Profit for the year before taxation    3 301 3 473 

Adjustments for:    

Investment income  (1 119) (1 241) 

Amortisation of intangible assets  20 352 20 

Depreciation of property and equipment  19 316 317 

Provisions for impairment of advances  17 24 - 

Provision for impairment / (increase) of inventory  240 (113) 

(Profit) / loss on disposal and write-off of property and 

equipment and intangible asset   (4) 16 

Decrease in the fair value of investments  

and profits on sale of investments   (8 344) (11 947) 

Decrease in the fair value of investment properties  11 617 2 828 

Bank loan interest payable   263 384 

  (4 354) (6 263) 

Change in:    

Increase / (decrease) in unappropriated surplus 

of life insurance business  23 28 (609) 

Decrease in insurance contracts liabilities   14, 22 (8 189) (2 663) 

Decrease / increase) in reinsurers’ share in insurance 
contracts liabilities  24 1 097 (2 588) 

Creditors and accruals   21 (175) (1 446) 

 Premiums and other insurance receivables   16 3 261 (568) 

Insurance liabilities   22 143 3 052 

Debtors and prepayments   10 122 156 

Cash flow for operating activities  (8 067) (10 929) 

Taxation paid  (718) (1 073) 

Net cash flow for operating activities  (8 785) (12 002) 

 

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The Group is exposed to a variety of risks, as part of its normal operations from insurance operations with 
financial instruments held and these are discussed below. These risks are monitored on a systematic basis 

and all the necessary measures are being taken to prevent undue risk concentrations.  
 

Risk arising from insurance business 

The risk under an insurance contract is the risk that an insured event will occur including the uncertainty 
of the amount and timing of any resulting claim. For risks from insurance operations such estimates are 

created to meet adequately the obligations under the Group’s insurance policies, the establishment of 
actuaries. The principal risk under such contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments will 

exceed the carrying amount of insurance liabilities. 

 

This risk is influenced by the frequency and severity of claims and by the risk that actual benefits paid will 

be greater than originally estimated. 
 



Notes to the Financial Statements 

 
 

47 
 

 

The risk exposure is limited by dispersion on a large portfolio of insurance contracts and by the careful 

selection and implementation of underwriting strategies and guidelines, also limited by the use of 
reinsurance arrangements. 

 

Although the Group has entered into reinsurance arrangements, it is not relieved of its direct obligations to 
its policyholders and thus a credit exposure exists with respect to reinsurance ceded, to the extent that 

any reinsurer is unable to meet its obligations assumed under such reinsurance agreements. For this 

reason the Group monitors regularly the credit rating of the reinsurance companies with which it 
cooperates through their financial results and their credit rating by well known agencies and takes all 

necessary steps so that this risk is minimised. 

 

Life insurance contracts 
The main factors affecting the frequency of claims are epidemics, widespread changes in lifestyle and 
natural disasters. 

 

The Group’s underwriting strategy is designed to ensure that risks are well diversified in terms of type of 
risk and level of insured benefits. This is largely achieved through the use of medical screening in order to 

ensure that pricing takes account of current health conditions and medical history, regular review of actual 

claims experience and product pricing. The Group has the right not to renew individual policies, to impose 
deductibles or to reject the payment of fraudulent claims. 

 

Accident and health insurance contracts 
The most important factors affecting accident and health contracts result from changes in lifestyle, 

climate and environmental changes. 

 

The risks are reduced by following a strict underwriting policy and by investigating for possible fraudulent 

claims. 

 

Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 

by failing to discharge an obligation. 

 

Maximum exposure to credit risk 
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk: 

  

  2015   2014  

 Unit   Unit   

 Linked Other Total Linked Other Total 

 
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 

Debt securities (Note 12.1 and 14) 31 787 8 818 40 605 28 162 14 219 42 381 

Cash and cash equivalents  
(Note 9 and 14) 19 123 6 396 25 519 28 514 6 974 35 488 

Policy loans (Note 13.2) 1 123 2 394 3 517 2 088 2 210 4 298 

Mortgage loans (Note 13.1) - 2 422 2 422 - 2 492 2 492 

Debtors (Note 10) - 3 914 3 914 - 4 091 4 091 

Reinsurers’ share in insurance 
contract liabilities (Note 24) - 10 123 10 123 - 11 220 11 220 

Premium receivable and other 
insurance receivables (Note 16) 4 229 105 4 334 7 337 258 7 595 

Advances (Note 17) - - - - 24 24 

  56 262 34 172 90 434  66 101 41 488 107 589 
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Policy loans and mortgage loans are fully secured by the value of insurance policies and mortgages on 

properties respectively.  

 

Debtors includes amounts owed to the Group arising from the sale of property which is not transferred 

until paid. 

 

Premiums receivable are secured by the surrender value of insurance policies. 

 

Advances are secured on the value of shares listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange, the fair value of which 

are zero (2014: zero). 

 

The table below shows the exposure to credit risk: 

Exposure to credit risk by credit rating 
The table below provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Group by classifying assets 

according to their credit rating of bond issuers and banks: 

 

2015 
 

Aaa -Aa3 A1-A3 Ba1 – Ba3 B1-B3 Caa1- Caa3 Unrated Total 

 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 

Debt securities - - - - - 40 605 40 605 

Cash and deposits 
with banks  6 808 7 588 - - 12 026 2 843 29 265 

 6 808 7 588 - - 12 026 43 448 69 870 

2014    

 

   

Government debt 

securities - - - 700  - 700 

Debt securities -  - 581 - - 41 100 41 681 

Cash and deposits 
with banks  - 18 353 - - 16 564 2 081 36 998 

 - 18 353 581 700 16 564 43 181 79 379 

 

 

 

 

 

2015 

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired Impaired Total 

€000 €000 €000 

Premiums receivable and other 
insurance receivables  4 334 691 5 025 

Advances - 89 89 

 4 334 780 5 114 

2014    

Premiums receivable and other 
insurance receivables  7 595 669 8 264 

Advances 24 65 89 

 7 619 734 8 353 
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Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to fully or promptly meet payment obligations as and 

when they fall due. This risk includes the possibility that the Group may have to raise funding at a higher 

cost or sell assets at a discount. 

The Group’s business requires a steady flow of cash to meet payment obligations to policyholders and 

associates.  

 

The basic source of liquidity for the Group are premiums received, sales and income from investments, 

cash and cash equivalents, the bank overdraft and the bank loan. 

 

To provide the satisfactory cash inflow to cover future payment obligations the Group invests in assets 

with the same maturity profile as the maturity of insurance contracts liabilities. 

 

The following table presents the Group’s financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturity at 31 

December 2015 and at 31 December 2014. The analysis was based on undiscounted cash flows analysed 
in time bands according to the number of days remaining from 31 December to the contractual maturity 

date.   
 

Within 
one 

year 
€000 

1-5 
years 
€000 

6-15  
years  
€000 

After 
more 

 than 15 
years 
€000 

Without  
expiry 

date 
€000 

Unit- 
Linked  

€000 
Total 
€000 

2015 
       

Overdrafts 3 843 - - - - - 3 843 

Insurance contract liabilities 17 452 15 886 9 515 5 170 14 837 211 763 274 623 

Insurance liabilities 14 864 2 617 1 567 852 2 444 - 22 344 

Creditors 2 175 - - - - - 2 175 

Bank loan 4 880 - - - - - 4 880 

 43 214 18 503 11 082 6 022 17 281 211 763 307 865 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of adverse movements in the rates of exchange between currencies, in the level of 

interest rates and the current prices of investments. The Group’s profitability is not affected to the extent 

that such variations relate to investments held for unit-linked investment plans. For the remaining 

investments relating to insurance business this risk is kept at low levels through diversification, both 

geographically and through investment in companies operating in different sectors of the economy. 

 

  

2014        

Overdrafts 3 515 - - - - - 3 515 

Insurance contract liabilities 22 285 20 591 15 121 10 189 30 535 210 254 308 975 

Insurance liabilities 14 565 2 901 1 752 922 2 159 - 22 299 

Creditors 2 434 - - - - - 2 434 

Bank loan 2 545 4 850 - - - - 7 395 

 45 344 28 342 16 873 11 111 32 694 210 254 344 618 
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Equity shares price risk  

The risk of loss from changes in the price of equity shares arises when there is an unfavourable change in 

the price of equity shares held by the Group. The majority of investments in equity shares as at 31 

December 2015 and 2014 were held in recognized foreign stocks. Moreover, risk reduction is achieved 

through dispersion in various sectors. 

 

 Change in 

index 

Effect on  

profit before 

taxation 

Effect on    

profit after 

taxation 

2015  € 000 € 000 

Cyprus Stock Exchange +5% 129 116 

 -5% (129) (116) 

Other Stock Exchanges +5% 181 163 

 -5% (181) (163) 

    

2014    

Cyprus Stock Exchange +5% 131 118 

 -5% (131) (118) 

Other Stock Exchanges +5% 318 286 

 -5% (318) (286) 

 

Investments in other exchanges include direct and indirect investments in mutual funds that are traded on 
European and US Exchanges. 

 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. This risk is mainly focused on the Group’s investments. 

Changes in interest rates do not affect profitability if they relate to unit-linked investment plans. 

 

The Group reduces its exposure to this risk by investing in a combination of fixed interest and variable 

interest financial assets and by regular monitoring of assets and liabilities positions. 

 

On 31 December 2015 if interest rates on all interest bearing financial instruments and obligations in any 

currency  increased / decreased by 0,5%, with other things being equal, the Company’s profit after tax for 
the year, and consequently its equity, would show an increase / decrease of €64 000 (2014: €62 000).  

 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

 

The Group's exposure to currency risk is not significant. 
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31. ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY EXPECTED MATURITY DATE 

 

The table below presents an analysis of assets and liabilities based on expected maturity or redemption 
date: 

  
2015 Within one 

year 
More than 

one year 
Total 

 €000 €000 €000 

Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 3 747 - 3 747 

Debtors and prepayments 3 914 - 3 914 

Investments of insurance operations    

 Equity shares  - 51 348 51 348 

 Debt securities - 35 698 35 698 

    Multi asset funds - 29 492 29 492 

    Money market fund  7 799 - 7 799 

 Loans to policyholders 121 2 301 2 422 

 Loans on policies 527 2 989 3 516 

 Deposits with banks 24 801 - 24 801 

Investments relating to superannuation and 
managed pension funds    

 Debt securities - 4 907 4 907 

 Equity shares - 6 244 6 244 

 Multiple assets  - 3 022 3 022 

    Money market fund 500 - 500 

 Deposits with banks 718 - 718 

Reinsurers’ share of insurance contracts liabilities 1 303 8 820 10 123 

Premiums receivable and other insurance receivables 4 334 - 4 334 

Inventories  - 41 556 41 556 

Property and equipment - 18 970 18 970 

Intangible assets - 1 885 1 885 

 47 764 207 232 254 996 

Liabilities    

Bank overdraft 3 843 - 3 843 

Bank loan 4 880 - 4 880 

Creditors and accruals 2 431 - 2431 

Insurance liabilities 12 616 9 727 22 343 

Taxation payable 242 - 242 

Deferred taxation - 7 883 7 883 

Unallocated surplus life insurance business 698 - 698 

Insurance contracts liabilities 84 253 190 370 274 623 

Liabilities of superannuation and managed pension funds 16 185 (928) 15 257 

 125 148 207 052 332 200 
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2014 Within one 
year 

More than 
 one year 

Total 

 €000 €000 €000 

Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 1 643 - 1 643 

Debtors and prepayments 4 091 - 4 091 

Investments of insurance operations    

 Equity shares  - 63 238 63 238 

 Debt securities 1 208 36 256 37 464 

    Multi asset funds - 18 008 18 008 

 Mortgage loans to policyholders 125 2 368 2 493 

 Loans on policies 645 3 653 4 298 

 Deposits with banks 34 696 - 34 696 

managed pension funds 
Investments relating to superannuation and  
managed pension fund    

 Debt securities - 4 918 4 918 

 Equity shares - 6 064 6 064 

    Multi asset funds - 2 679 2 679 

 Deposits with banks 791 - 791 

Reinsurers’ share of insurance contracts liabilities 1 983 9 237 11 220 

Premiums receivable and other insurance receivables 7 595 - 7 595 

Advances 24 - 24 

Inventories - 41 782 41 782 

Property and equipment - 19 029 19 029 

Intangible assets - 1 890 1 890 

 52 801 209 122 261 923 

Liabilities    

Bank overdraft 3 515 - 3 515 

Bank loan - 7 395 7 395 

Creditors and accruals 2 581 - 2 581 

Insurance liabilities 14 565  7 635 22 200 

Taxation payable 234 - 234 

Deferred taxation - 7 353 7 353 

Unappropriated surplus of life insurance business 670 - 670 

Insurance contracts liabilities 84 990 198 750 283 740 

Liabilities of superannuation and managed pension 

funds 
15 257 (1 433) 13 824 

 121 812 219 700 341 512 

 

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

The insurance legislation and the Insurance Companies Control Service of the Ministry of Finance shall 
determine the required capital that an insurance company must maintain. Capital requirements 

determined in order to ensure the minimum solvency margin. Additional objectives are established by the 
Company to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business objectives and maximize value 
for its shareholders. 
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The Group manages its capital base by evaluating annually the likely shortfall between the current level 

and the required capital to support its operations. Adjustments to current capital levels may occur in the 
light of changes in economic situation and the risks specific to the activities of the Company. In order to 

maintain the required capital, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid. 

 

During the reported financial periods the Group has fully complied with capital requirements imposed by 

the Insurance Companies Control Service. 

 

Information  on capital management for implementing  the Directive on Solvency II  from 1 January 2016, 

are presented in note 39 to the financial statements. 

 

33. GROUP COMPANIES 

 
Universal Insurance Agency Ltd Provision of general insurance services  
  as an agent   
Universal Investments Ltd  Closed-end investment company  
Universal Properties Ltd  Owner of land  
Priority Properties Srl  Owner of land 

Unilife Properties Srl  Owner of land  
Universal Nominees Ltd  Trustee services  
Universal Securities Ltd  Dormant   
Universal Golf Enterprises PLC  Development of golf courses and related 

 residential and commercial units, and general 
 development of immovable property. 

  

All the above companies were incorporated and operate in Cyprus, apart from Priority Properties Srl and 
Unilife Properties Srl which are incorporated in Romania and hold property.  All are wholly owned 

subsidiaries.  

 

34. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO THE INSURANCE BUSINESS INCOME STATEMENTS 

 

Additional information is shown below based on the Accounting Directives issued according to paragraph 2 

of article 87 of the Laws on Insurance Services and Other Related Issues: 

 

Life insurance and annuity business 

 

  

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Individual life premiums 43 336 44 056 

Group life premiums 1 644 2 233 

 44 980 46 289 

   

Regular premiums 38 134 39 434 

Single premiums 6 846 6 855 

 44 980 46 289 
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  2015 2014 

 €000 €000 

Non-linked life premiums:   

- Without participation in profits 4 068 4 730 

- With participation in profits 1 154 1 412 

 5 222 6 142 

Premiums of unit-linked life policies for which the 
investment risk is borne by policyholders  39 758 40 147 

 44 980 46 289 

   

Reinsurance premiums of non-linked life business 2 222 2 488 

Reinsurance premiums of unit-linked life business 900 882 

 3 122 3 370 

 

35. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND PROPERTIES 

 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value: 

 

Level 1: investments measured at fair value based on quoted prices in active markets. 

 

Level 2: investments measured at fair value based on valuation models in which all factors affecting the 
fair value is based on observable market data. 

 

Level 3: investments measured at fair value based on valuation models in which the data significantly 
affect the fair value are not based on observable market data. This category includes unlisted investments. 

 

The method used for determining the fair value of financial instruments presented at fair value using 
valuation models is described in accounting policy number 16 for investments at fair value through profit 

or loss and accounting policy number 20 for derivatives. These models include estimates of the Group 
regarding the assumptions that an investor would use in measuring fair value. The method used for 

determining the fair value of property is described in notes 11 and 18. 

 

The analysis of financial instruments and properties measured at fair value by level is shown below: 

 

 

Level 1  Level 2 Level 3 Total 

€000 €000 €000 €000 

Financial assets and properties     

2015     

Equity shares 57 397 - 195 57 592 

Debt Securities 39 956 650 - 40 606 

Multi asset funds 32 514 - - 32 514 

Money market fund 8 299 - - 8 299 

Investment properties - - 109 852 109 852 

Freehold Properties - - 18 525 18 525 

 138 166 650 128 572 267 388 
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 Level 1  Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets and properties €000 €000 €000 €000 

2014     

Equity shares 69 081 - 221 69 302 

Debt Securities 39 670 2 711 - 42 381 

Multi asset funds 20 687 - - 20 687 

Investment properties - - 110 697 110 697 

Freehold Properties - - 18 581 18 581 

 129 438 2 711 129 499 261 648 

 

Sensitivity of fair value measurement to changes in unobservable inputs  

Given the uncertainties in the market, any changes in unobservable inputs may lead to measurement with 

significantly higher or lower fair value. A variation of the annual lease rate of return would affect the fair 

value of investment property and own property as follows: 

 

Change in rate of annual lease rate of return 
Impact on fair value of 

investment property 

+0,05 (+5%)  -7,5% to -9% 

-0,05% (-5%) +9% 
 

Any changes in unobservable inputs of unlisted shares are not expected to lead to significantly higher or 

lower value compared to their fair value. 

 

36. DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 

 

The beneficial interest in the share capital of the Company, of the Directors, their spouses and minor 

children and of companies in which they hold, directly or indirectly, at least 20% of the voting shares, at 

31 December 2015 and 30 May 2016 is stated below: 
 

 

31 December 30 May 

2015 2016 

 % % 

Photos Ia. Photiades 58,29 58,29 

Andreas Georghiou 0,36 0,36 

Demosthenis Z. Severis 0,08 0,08 

Pavlos Ph. Photiades 84,87 84,87 

Alexis Ph. Photiades 58,33 58,33 

George A. Georghiou 27,75 27,75 

 

The above percentages of Messrs Photos Ia. Photiades, Pavlos Ph. Photiades and Alexis Ph. Photiades 

include the participation of 58,29% in companies in which they hold directly or indirectly at least 20% of 
the voting rights in a general meeting. 

 

In addition, the above percentages of Messrs Pavlos Ph. Photiades and George A. Georghiou include the 
participation of 24,75% in a company in which they hold directly or indirectly at least 20% of the voting 

rights in a general meeting. 
 

The other members of the Board namely Messrs Andreas K. Kritiotis, Constantinos Dekatris, Socrates 
Solomides and Stavros Christodoulides and their related persons and companies, do not hold any voting 

rights in a general meeting. 
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37. SHAREHOLDERS WHO HOLD MORE THAN 5% OF THE SHARE CAPITAL 
 

In accordance with the Company’s register of members, the following shareholders held directly more 

than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and 30 May 2016. 
 

 

31 December 30 May 

2015 2016 

 % % 

Photos Photiades Group Ltd 54,05 54,05 

Magnum Investments Ltd 24,75 24,75 
 

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS   
 

Related persons include members of the Board of Directors, spouses, minor children and companies in 
which a Director holds, directly or indirectly, at least 20% of the voting rights in a general meeting. 
 

All transactions with Directors and their related parties are made on normal business terms. 
 

Emoluments of Directors 
 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Fees:   

Non executive 147 127 

Executive 10 8 

Total fees  157 135 

Emoluments in executive capacity 
including employer’s contributions  188 188 

Total emoluments of Directors 345 323 

 

During 2015 and 2014 there was one Executive Director. 
 

Other transactions with related parties 

Mr Andreas Georghiou, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company and his related parties are 
beneficiaries of a number of insurance policies for which the premiums payable amount to €2 460 (2014: 

€2 460).  
 

Mr George A. Georghiou, a member of the Board of Directors of the Company, and his related parties are 

the beneficiaries of a number of insurance contracts for which the annual premiums payable to the 
Company amount to €12 000 (2014: €10 000). 
 

Mr Constantinos Dekatris, member of the Board of Directors of the Company, holds the position of the 

Chief Executive Officer of the Commercial General Insurance Ltd, which maintains group life policies, 
accident and health policies and pension plan. During 2015 Commercial General Insurance Ltd paid to the 

Company premiums amounting to €119 000 (2014: €61 000).  
 

Mr Alexis Ph. Photiades, a member of the Board of Directors of the Company, and his related parties are 

the beneficiaries of a number of insurance contracts for which the annual premiums payable to the 
Company amount to €34 000 (2014: €31 000). 
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Mr Pavlos Ph. Photiades, a member of the Board of Directors of the Company, and his related parties are 

the beneficiaries of a number of insurance contracts for which the annual premiums payable to the 
Company amount to €14 000 (2014: €14 000). 
 

Mr Stavros Christodoulides, a member of the Board of Directors of the Company, and his related parties 
are the beneficiaries of a number of insurance contracts for which the annual premiums payable to the 

Company amount to €2 520 (2014: €2 520). 
 

The Group received from companies in the Photiades Group premiums of life and accident and health 
business amounting to €247 000 (2014: €313 000). The Group also acted as an insurance intermediary for 

insuring assets of Photiades Group and earned commission amounting to €83 000 (2014: €74 000). 
 

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 

The Directive 2009/138/EC of the European Parliament and the Council and the relevant Regulations 

concerning the aquisition and pursuit of Insurance and Reinsurance businesses (Solvency II) came into 

force on 1 January 2016. The new Directive requires significantly enhanced information both in 
quantitative and qualitative terms and is divided into three pillars: 

 
 Pillar I: Quantitative requirements - includes calculation of solvency capital requirements, 

technical provisions and principles for measurement of assets and liabilities. 

 Pillar II: Qualitative requirements - includes the corporate governance requirements that 

guarantee the correct and prudent management of the insurance business, including the risk 
management function, compliance, internal audit and actuarial function. 

 Pillar III: Disclosure requirements - includes the requirements to disclose quantitative and 

qualitative information necessary for supervisory authorities to better inform members - 
consumers. 

 
The Company, following a detailed action plan over the last few years, is able to fully meet the new 

requirements in the application of the Directive from 1 January 2016. In the preparation phase, the 

Company implemented significant upgrades in corporate governance, risk management and regulatory 
compliance issues. 

 
With the implementation of the Directive, the Company manages its capital base by evaluating on a 

quarterly basis,  the adequate coverage of the Solvency Capital Requirement with high quality own equity. 
In this context, a number of actions was taken to optimize asset management and own funds, including 

adjusting its dividend policy, in order to be able to cover the increased quantitative capital requirements. 
 

Additionally, the Company assesses annually the ongoing compliance with regulatory capital requirements 

of the Directive throughout the period of future business planning. This assessment takes into account 
possible future changes in the risk profile, quantity and quality of own funds, and their composition by 

class and how this can change during the period of future business planning. The results of the own risk 
assessment were taken into account for capital management, business planning and development and 

design of the company's products. 
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As of 1993, in addition to the annual statutory actuarial valuation which is reflected in the 

audited financial statements, Universal Life reports the results of the Company using the 
embedded value method. 
 

The embedded value of a life insurance company is defined as the sum of the value of shareholders’ 
assets and the present value of the projected future transfers to the shareholders arising out of future 

profits. No allowance is made for profits to be generated out of future new business (goodwill). 
 
The calculation of the projected future cash flows is based on assumptions of investment return, mortality 
and morbidity, lapse rates, commissions and management expenses, taxation and any other factors which 
contribute positively or negatively in the risk management and profitability of a life insurance company.  
The assumptions are set by allowing for the economic conditions and the Company’s own recent 
experience. The projected future cash flows are discounted back to their present value using a risk 
discount rate which represents the shareholders’ expected return from an investment in a life insurance 
company. 
 

The embedded value of the company is calculated at the beginning and at the end of the year and the 

change in value, adjusted for any transfers to or from the shareholders, represents the embedded value 

earnings of the company. 
 

2015 Results 
 

The table below gives a breakdown of the Group’s embedded value as at 31 December 2015. The 

corresponding figures for 2014 are given for comparison purposes. The risk discount rate used was 7,50% 
per annum, compared to 8,00% for 2014.  

 

 

2015 2014 

€000 €000 

Value of Net Assets as per the financial statements 

prepared under IFRSs 31 932 29 835 

Difference between fair value and cost of real estate of 
Universal Golf Enterprises PLC 1 289 1 063 

Undistributed surplus of life insurance business 698 670 

Value of policies in force 40 797 40 989 

Embedded Value 74 716 72 557 

 

The change in the embedded value in successive years plus the dividends paid to shareholders within the 
year represents the embedded value profits / losses for the year. The embedded value profits for 2015 is 

€2 159 000 (2014: €7 079 000). 

 

The table below shows the key elements of the results for 2015 as well as for 2014 under the traditional 

accounting standards method compared to the alternative embedded value method.   

 

 

As per audited 
financial 

statements        Embedded Value basis 

 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

€000 €000 €000 €000 

Profit  for the year after taxation 2 053 2 499 2 159 7 079 

Shareholders’ interest 31 932 29 835 74 716 72 557 

Profit  per share - cent 15,2 18,5 15,6 52,3 

Net asset value per share - € 2,32 2,21 5,42 5,37 

 


